

MASTERARBEIT / MASTER'S THESIS

Titel der Masterarbeit / Title of the Master's Thesis

"The Impact of Transactional and Transformational Leadership on Employee Empowerment"

verfasst von / submitted by Dagmar Mareike Heyn, B.A.

angestrebter akademischer Grad / in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (MSc)

Wien, 2023 / Vienna 2023

Studienkennzahl It. Studienblatt / degree programme code as it appears on the student record sheet:	UA 066 915
Studienrichtung It. Studienblatt / degree programme as it appears on the student record sheet:	Masterstudium Betriebswirtschaft
Betreut von / Supervisor:	UnivProf. Dr. Oliver Fabel, M.A.
Mitbetreut von / Co-Supervisor:	Dr. Gernot Pruschak, B.Sc. MSc

Acknowledgements

I would like to use this opportunity to thank those people whose continued support has motivated me time and again during the process of writing this master's thesis. First of all, my thanks go to Prof. Oliver Fabel, for agreeing to supervise my thesis and approving of my choice of topic. Secondly, my co-supervisor, Dr. Gernot Pruschak, deserves a huge amount of thanks. For his unwavering support, his never-ending patience in discussing all questions and challenges I approached him with, and his constructive feedback on my outcomes, which notably improved this thesis.

Additionally, I would like to thank my parents and my brother. They patiently listened to my stories of progress and problems, always willing to praise and to comfort, never denying me the opportunity of structuring my thoughts and ideas by talking about them. Also, special thanks to my father for his support in the final formatting of this thesis. Last but not least, I want to thank my closest friends, Pamela Doderer and Hannah Fassbender-Sporbeck. Without their assistance, there would be "furthermore" in every paragraph, a lot of extremely long sentences, and too many typos. I truly appreciate the polish their efforts and comments added to my thesis.

II

Table of Contents

Ack	nowle	edgements	I
1	Introduction1		
2	Litera	ature Review	4
	2.1	Organizational Structures and Employee Empowerment	4
	2.2	Designing Empowering Organizational Structures	7
	2.3	Implications of Empowering Organizational Structures	11
	2.4	Leadership and Empowering Organizational Structures	13
3	Deve	elopment of the Research Model	16
	3.1	Leadership Concepts	17
		3.1.1 Transactional Leadership	18
	2 2	3.1.2 I ransformational Leadership	18
	3.2	3.2.1 Psychological Empowerment	20 21
		3.2.2 Structural Empowerment	21
	3.3	Hypotheses	24
4	Meth	odology	28
	4.1	Accumulating Data	28
	4.2	Selecting Measures for the Leadership and Empowerment Concepts	32
	4.3	Coding and Analyzing Data	34
	4.4	Outlier Search, Confidence and Credibility Intervals	36
	4.5	Conducting the Meta-Analysis	37
5	Resu	ılts	41
	5.1	Basic Meta-Analytic Results	48
	5.2	Subgroup Analysis: Geographic Region	49
6	Discu	ussion	53
	6.1	Transactional Leadership and Psychological Empowerment	53
	6.2	Transformational Leadership and Structural Empowerment	55
	6.3	Transformational Leadership and Psychological Empowerment	56
	6.4	Comparing the Presented Results with Those of Schermuly et al. (2022)	57
	6.5	Implications for Business Leaders and Managers	58
	6.6		60
	6.7	Future Research Opportunities	61
7	Cond	Conclusion	
8	References		64
9	Abstract75		
10	Zusammenfassung76		

List of Illustrations

Table 1	Keyword Combinations and Initial Search Results	29
Table 2	Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TAL+SE	42
Table 3	Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TAL+PE	43
Table 4	Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TFL+SE	43
Table 5	Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TFL+PE	44
Table 6	Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TAL+PE sub-sample	46
Table 7	Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TFL+SE sub-sample	46
Table 8	Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TFL+PE sub-sample	48
Table 9	Results of the Basic Meta-Analysis	48
Table 10	Estimated Population Correlations by Geographic Region	50
Figure 1	Basic Research Model	16
Figure 2	Detailed Research Model	17
Figure 3	Literature Search and Exclusion Criteria	31
Figure 4	Extended Literature Search and Exclusion Criteria	41
Figure 5	Distribution of the Pearson Correlation Coefficients Included in the Meta-Analys	sis 42

List of Equations

Equation 1 Population Correlation	
Equation 2 Variance Across Studies	
Equation 3 Relationship of Variance Across Studies, Variance of Population Correlat	ions, and
Sampling Error Variance	
Equation 4 Variance of Population Correlations	
Equation 5 Sampling Error Variance	
Equation 6 Average Sample Size	
Equation 7 Standard Deviation	

List of Abbreviations

Am	North America
As	Asia
E	Europe
MLQ	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire
PE	psychological empowerment
SE	structural empowerment
TAL	transactional leadership
TAL+PE	transactional leadership and psychological empowerment
TAL+SE	transactional leadership and structural empowerment
TFL	transformational leadership
TFL+PE	transformational leadership and psychological empowerment
TFL+SE	transformational leadership and structural empowerment

1 Introduction

The topic of leadership has drawn the attention of researchers for some time and from a variety of perspectives. For some, leadership represents a key component of political influence (Burns 1978, 3-4). For others, it is closely connected to the results achieved by workers, whether individually or as a team. Hence, in the early twentieth century, Max Weber (1980, 124) defined three kinds of leadership: charismatic, traditional, and rational leadership. In doing so, he provided a theoretical framework for leadership in governments and organizations. Half a century later, James M. Burns (1978, 2) perceived a lack of literature regarding political leadership, inducing him to develop his theory of transactional and transforming leadership. While transactional leader-ship focuses on some kind of exchange (Burns 1978, 4), like effort for money, transforming leadership activates followers' potential (Burns 1978, 4) by engaging their values and beliefs in pursuit of a shared goal (Burns 1978, 19).

Using Burns' (1978) theory of leadership, Bernard M. Bass (1990) refined his definition of transactional and transforming leadership with a special focus on leadership in organizations, and started to name the latter "transformational leadership". Bass (1997) further defined four dimensions of transformational leadership, focusing on the individual worker's needs and values, as well as encouragement of critical thinking and innovative ideas. This particular focus creates a link between transformational leadership and employee empowerment (Pieterse et al. 2010).

In parallel, employee empowerment has also received an increasing amount of attention, since its influence on both strengthening motivation and enhancing innovation was shown (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Furthermore, employee empowerment improves customer service (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). While Lin, Wu, and Ling (2017) conducted their study in the hospitality industry, other researchers, such as Afsar et al. (2017) reached similar conclusions regarding knowledge-intensive businesses, indicating the importance of employee empowerment for an organization's competitive advantage, at least for some industries. To facilitate the investigation of employee empowerment, a distinction can be made between psychological and structural empowerment (e.g. Seibert, Silver, and Randolph 2004, Tuuli et al. 2012).

Psychological empowerment is based on the individual employee's perception of his or her job in terms of a sense of meaning, competence, self-determination, and impact (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). Hence, there are shared aspects of transformational leadership and psychological empowerment, raising the question whether this relationship can be shown empirically. Current literature yields a variety of studies investigating this relationship (e.g. Pieterse et al. 2010; Barroso Castro, Villegas Perinan, and Casillas Bueno 2008), so that a comprehensive meta-analysis had been be called for.

It was provided in the beginning of 2022 by Schermuly et al., who examined the impact of four different leadership styles, namely empowering leadership, transformational leadership, servant leadership, and transactional leadership, and measured their respective impact on psychological empowerment. The meta-analysis conducted by Schermuly et al. (2022) uses a final number of 83 articles with 97 stated correlations to demonstrate that transformational leadership, servant leadership, and empowering leadership have an almost equal impact on psychological empowerment. Transactional leadership, on the other hand, appears to have no correlation with psychological empowerment (Schermuly et al. 2022). Consequently, several leadership styles can be assumed to support psychological empowerment, whereas transactional leadership impedes employees' psychological empowerment (Schermuly et al. 2022).

However, the meta-analysis by Schermuly et al. (2022) ignores the structural dimensions of empowerment and their potential impact on empowering employees. Nonetheless, the structural conditions of the work environment are an important antecedent of psychological empowerment (Conger and Kanungo 1988), since the psychological evaluation of their personal structural conditions results in the individual employee's perception of empowerment (Laschinger et al. 2004). With respect to leadership style, it is counted among the structural antecedents of empowerment (Huertas-Valdivia, Gallego-Burín, and Lloréns-Montes 2019). At the same time, the leadership style influences the structural context (Spreitzer 1996). Particularly transformational leaders tend to change the organization's structural framework, whereas transactional leaders simply accept it as a given fact and operate within its boundaries (Bass 1997). Considering that these two leadership styles are often used as a theoretical basis of leadership studies, a meta-analysis like the one provided by Schermuly et al. (2022) is required, though with a focus more on structural empowerment.

Thus, this master's thesis aims to investigate the impact of transformational and transactional leadership on both structural and psychological empowerment, with particular emphasis on structural empowerment. By conducting a meta-analysis to empirically examine these relationships, the knowledge gap left by Schermuly et al. (2022) will be addressed. Despite the focus on structural empowerment, however, psychological empowerment is also included, as both dimensions of empowerment are complementary (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Therefore, studies stating correlation coefficients indicating the relationship between both transactional and transformational leadership as well as both structural and psychological empowerment are accumulated and analyzed. In order to enhance the quality of the collected data, only studies published in renowned academic journals are selected to answer the question of how transformational and transactional leadership impact employee empowerment, especially structural empowerment.

To address the stated research question, the first step is to review the relevant academic literature to provide a theoretical background for the empirical analysis. Hence, the literature review describes the design of empowering organizational structures, along with how they influence employee empowerment and leaders' contributions therein. Then, a detailed research model is presented, including a description of the featured leadership and empowerment concepts and their respective measurement constructs. Additionally, eight hypotheses are developed based on the relationships indicated by the research model. Upon this basis, chapter 4 Methodology provides details on the selected empirical measures as well as the accumulation and coding of the gathered data. Moreover, the process and the formulas used for conducting the meta-analysis are specified, before the corresponding results are presented. These are followed by a discussion of the effect of transactional and transformational leadership on empowerment, particularly structural empowerment. Ultimately, the limitations of this thesis are explained, together with a description of some implications for business leaders and/or managers and future research opportunities.

2 Literature Review

Before starting a discussion of leadership, it seems important to attempt a differentiation between leadership and management. While most researchers agree that the two concepts share common aspects, there is disagreement on the amount of similarities and dissimilarities (Yukl 1989). Simply stated, a person working in a management position does not have to be a leader (Yukl 1989). In fact, many incumbents of higher hierarchical positions lack the power to be true leaders (Kanter 1993, 165), thus remaining managers with a focus on doing things right (Bennis and Nanus 1985, 29) and on controlling complex situations and environments (Kotter 1990). Leaders, on the other hand, are described as people who focus on doing the right things (Bennis and Nanus 1985, 29) and on initiating necessary or useful changes (Kotter 1990).

In other words, leaders focus on the impact ideas or actions have on their followers, whereas managers rather concentrate on how they can make their subordinate employees do what they expect them to do (Zaleznik 1981). Hence, leaders are said to impact their subordinates' commitment to an organization or a goal, whereas managers are more concerned with task execution and completion (Yukl 1989). By contrast, it can be argued that leaders also manage tasks or people, while managers lead as well (Yukl 1989), though not as often or as intensely as true leaders. This view, assuming that leading and managing tend to complement one another, is in line with the belief that a task-oriented (transactional) leadership style and a more emotion-oriented (transformational) leadership style also enrich one another (Lowe, Kroeck, and Siva-subramaniam 1996).

2.1 Organizational Structures and Employee Empowerment

Looking at the aforementioned discussion from a more historical perspective, it may be said that, up to the 1960s, F. W. Taylor's idea of scientific management was the predominant method (Wilkinson 1998) of organizing jobs, especially in machine-based manufacturing companies (Keir 1918). The key elements of scientific management are: standardization (Keir 1918), referring to the use of standardized tools, equipment, work schedules, and instructions (Drury 1915, 69-77); exact knowledge (Keir 1918), implying that workers as well as their foremen need to be highly specialized on their particular task (Drury 1915, 84-86); functionalization (Keir 1918), meaning that all administrative tasks requiring some intellectual effort are taken away from workers and foremen and assigned to newly established functional managers (Drury 1915, 82-84); incentive (Keir 1918), representing a piece-rate payment system that grants higher piece rates for higher output (Drury 1915, 60); and selected personnel (Keir 1918), indicating that only the best-suited workers are hired to complete the defined tasks, as it facilitates increasing their pace of work without harming them (Drury 1915, 77-80).

In other words, Taylor's scientific management focuses more on optimizing productivity than on developing leaders. By breaking jobs, especially in manufacturing or production, down into very routinized, simple tasks, Taylor aims to increase workers' productivity (Wilkinson 1998). At the same time, costs can be reduced, since the tasks to be executed are simple enough to be completed by workers with low qualification, who are obviously less expensive than qualified ones (Kanter 1993, 259). While qualified workers are still necessary for more complicated tasks, the Tayloristic system limits their number, given that all simpler tasks are completed by less qualified staff. Furthermore, decision-making authority is highly centralized (Wall, Cordery, and Clegg 2002), meaning that all decisions are made at the top levels of the hierarchy (Robbins and Judge 2007, 544; Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 344). Consequently, both lower and middle managers are precisely that – managers hired to ensure a smooth operation or production (Bennis and Nanus 1985, 29). Leadership, by contrast, is reserved for the top management only, where all decisions regarding the organization's goals, strategies, and structure are made.

A similar distribution of leadership and decision-making authority is typical for bureaucratic organizations. According to Max Weber, a bureaucracy is a rational and equitable way of organizing (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341), relying on rules and procedures, a clearly defined hierarchy of authority, and division of labor with specialized tasks (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341). Again, these characteristics are similar to a Tayloristic organization. However, a bureaucracy further aims to differentiate between a given hierarchical position and the person occupying this position (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341). This differentiation intends to eliminate organizational members' feelings of being entitled to hold a specific position for personal reasons (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341). Attaching authority to the hierarchical position and subjecting all positions to clearly stated rules and regulations limits both the amount of personal favors granted and the abuse of positional power (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341). In addition, hiring decisions are solely based on the respective candidates' technical qualifications, not on whom the applicants might know or whom they are related to within the organization's upper management (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341).

Though such rules and procedures ensure a certain amount of fairness, they can also be seen as dehumanizing, given that the focus is on rational and efficient task completion, whereas emotions and interpersonal relationships are considered undesirable in work environments (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 341). Nonetheless, it is this kind of rationality that tends to make organizations more bureaucratic as they grow (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 342), since it enables them to be highly efficient in performing standardized tasks (Robbins and Judge 2007, 546). By grouping employees with similar tasks into functional units, economies of scale can be realized as task redundancy is minimized (Robbins and Judge 2007, 546-547). Moreover, standardized operating procedures in combination with highly formalized rules and procedures allow for the decision-making authority to be concentrated at the top of the organizational hierarchy. This reduces the need for highly qualified middle and lower managers (Robbins and Judge

2007, 547). Consequently, bureaucratic organizations – like Tayloristic ones – require managers, not leaders, for all hierarchical levels except for the top level.

However, today's organizations tend to look for leaders, requiring their managers and potential managers to have at least some leadership skills. This change is due to the growing instability of the environmental conditions faced by many organizations, especially business organizations (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 345). Among these alterations are increasing competition resulting from globalization, more volatile markets, and the need for more flexibility to adapt to rapidly changing markets and customer demands (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 345). Flexibility, though, is difficult to achieve in bureaucratic organizations, since highly specialized workers rely on established rules and procedures to complete their tasks successfully (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 344).

Deviations from the norm therefore pose some challenges. When there are no standard operating procedures for an issue that arises, the problem has to be escalated to the upper management levels for a solution (Robbins and Judge 2007, 546). Once the respective solution has been finalized, it has to be communicated back to the employee, who then proceeds to implement it (Robbins and Judge 2007, 546). Obviously, this process is time-consuming and customers are likely to be frustrated when their issue cannot be resolved in a timely manner. This, in turn, may easily result in a loss of customers, especially if the same or a similar product or service is offered by other, maybe more flexible, organizations. Consequently, organizations need to adapt to their changing environmental conditions if they want to survive. Employing more leaders – or managers who lead when necessary – is just one step toward achieving this goal.

Aside from being best suited to stable environments (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 345), bureaucratic and Tayloristic organizations also started to face human dysfunctionalities by the 1960s (Robbins and Judge 2007, 539). Having to execute the same routinized task every day caused workers to be bored, hence lowering their productivity as well as product or service quality (Robbins and Judge 2007, 539). Ultimately, both absenteeism and turnover rate increased significantly (Robbins and Judge 2007, 539). To counteract these developments, organizations and researchers tried to understand what was happening, hoping to reverse the trend and increase their team members' motivation by redesigning their work (Hackman 1980). Two prominent examples of such work redesign theories are Herzberg's Motivation-Hygiene-Theory and Hackman and Oldham's Job Characteristics Theory (Hackman 1980). Both of these theories aim to improve employees' work experience and productivity, though neither explicitly demands the latter's involvement in the organization's plan for work redesign (Hackman 1980). Consequently, initiatives to reassemble jobs that had formerly been divided into several specialized tasks can encounter an even further decreasing satisfaction among the staff, especially when pay schemes and control mechanisms are not adapted accordingly (Hackman 1980).

Based on the work redesign theories and approaches, the idea of empowerment began to prosper. By 1990, the idea of modern employee empowerment, meaning empowerment as it is known today, was born (Wilkinson 1998). It takes the basic concept of employee involvement of earlier approaches one step further, arguing that organizational structures and conditions are important determinants of employee empowerment and therefore deserve attention (Wilkinson 1998). Combined with the need for organizations to become more flexible in order to meet rapidly changing environmental conditions, authors like Kanter (1993) stress the importance of alterations in organizational design, for example decentralization, de-layered hierarchy, and reduced bureaucracy for the achievement of greater flexibility (Wilkinson 1998). Without considering these elements of organizational design, Kanter (1993, 256-257) argues, work redesign can never be truly empowering. Instead, supervisors might end up feeling even more powerless than before (Kanter 1993, 257), as some of their decision-making authority is likely moved to the responsibility of subordinate team members, thus "denuding" the supervisory jobs (Hackman 1980) by potentially leaving them without any decision-making authority.

2.2 Designing Empowering Organizational Structures

Usually, leaders of organizations focus on six structural variables when designing or redesigning their organizations: work specialization, departmentalization, chain of command, span of control, centralization/decentralization, and formalization (Robbins and Judge 2007, 538). Each of these variables describes a specific aspect of the organization's structure and can thus impact how empowering the work environment for the organization's employees will be. The degree of work specialization, for example, determines into how many different tasks a given job is split (Robbins and Judge 2007, 539). The more single tasks there are, meaning the more divided and specialized the work is, the simpler the individual tasks tend to be (Robbins and Judge 2020, 539). Since the latter are mostly assigned to different workers, the respective team members often repeat the same, single task during their entire working day (Robbins and Judge 2020, 539).

A classic example of this principle is the production belt introduced by Ford, where each worker constantly executes a single routinized task for the entire duration of his or her shift (Robbins and Judge 2020, 539). The same idea also guides Tayloristic organizations. As mentioned before, such a system can decrease personnel costs by lowering the need for qualified, well-trained staff, given that simple tasks can also be completed by employees with little or no qualification (Robbins and Judge 2007, 539). However, a production belt worker who cannot influence the pace of his or her work – as this is defined by the preset speed of the belt – is structurally not empowered and hence unlikely to perceive him- or herself as such.

When striving to change these working conditions, leaders can reduce the degree of work specialization by grouping some of the previously separated tasks back together (Hackman 1980). Such a process is referred to as "job enlargement" (Kanter 1993, 255) or "job enrichment" (Hackman 1980). It aims to grant every team member several different tasks, so that he or she has the opportunity to use a variety of skills while executing them (Kanter 1993, 255-257). Doing so shows an organization's employees that their knowledge and skills are valued, thus enhancing their feelings of competence. In addition, job enrichment offers them the freedom to decide for themselves which task to work on first, as well as how to work on it (Hackman 1980). Ultimately, this fosters their sense of autonomy.

While triggering competence and autonomy supports the employee's perception of empowerment (Conger and Kanungo 1988), it also implies the need for better-qualified staff within the organization. As a consequence, labor costs are likely to increase, either due to the trainings offered to existing workers in order to develop their skills, or due to hiring new team members with higher qualifications that match the demands of the newly enriched jobs. Still, considering that empowering employees enhances their intrinsic motivation (Thomas and Velthouse 1990), productivity can also be expected to increase (Lin, Wu, Ling 2017), so that the organization nonetheless benefits from the investment.

Once aiming to enrich jobs, leaders also need to reconsider the span of control assigned to supervisory and management positions. Since a narrow span of control means that a supervisor or leader has only few people to direct (Robbins and Judge 2007, 542), it facilitates a closer monitoring of the subordinates along with decisions being made by the respective supervisor or leader. Enlarging the span of control therefore supports employee empowerment, as it increases the number of workers directed by one supervisor or leader (Robbins and Judge 2007, 542). Consequently, the latter cannot exercise the same tight control any longer because of arising time and capability constraints. Based on the same constraints, supervisors and leaders are no longer able to make all the decisions themselves, so that some decision-making authority has to be delegated to their subordinates.

Besides enhancing employee empowerment, a larger span of control has the potential to reduce the number of supervisors or managers (Robbins and Judge 2007, 543). The same supervisor or leader overseeing more employees now results in fewer supervisors or leaders necessary to monitor a given number of team members. This particularly applies once employees are empowered to make simple decisions related to their daily work routine by themselves. In consequence, one or two hierarchical levels might even be eliminated, which does not only save money for the organization, but also further supports empowerment by supporting decentralization (Kanter 1993, 276-277).

Decentralization describes the degree to which decision-making authority is delegated to lower levels within the organizational hierarchy (Robbins and Judge 2007, 543). In centralized organizations, decision-making authority is concentrated at one point in the hierarchy, usually at the top (Robbins and Judge 2007, 543). Thus, all decisions are made by the top management. This requires that all relevant information is communicated upward for the decision to be made.

Afterwards, the decision is communicated back down to the levels where it is executed. Obviously, this system is time-consuming and often neglects specific local knowledge present among lower-level staff (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 380-382). Their expertise is ignored when the decision – no matter how trivial it is – is delegated to the top management.

In opposition to that, decentralization aims to have decisions made where the specific knowledge is (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 381). In other words, the authority to make decisions, particularly those connected with day-to-day operations, remains at those hierarchical levels where the challenges occur and where the corresponding solutions need to be implemented. By relieving top managers of basic operational decisions, there is more time available to focus on strategic decisions (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 381). Furthermore, the organization increases its flexibility, since operational issues can be addressed when and where they occur, without involving the top managers and waiting for their decision. This, in turn, enhances employees' empowerment, because they have some autonomy and decision-making authority incorporated in their job roles, which reflects the organization's trust in their competence while also adding importance to their jobs.

In order to formalize the desired degree of decentralization, leaders can incorporate it into the basic organizational structure, which is determined by the way the organization groups its jobs together (Robbins and Judge 2007, 540). This assembling of jobs and/or tasks to form departments is called "departmentalization" (Robbins and Judge 2007, 540) and often reflects the main focus of an organization. Organizations focused on economies of scale, for example, tend to use functional structures, as those facilitate cost savings by grouping similar jobs within the same department (Robbins and Judge 2007, 540). By concentrating similar expertise in the same department, leaders further create departments and/or teams whose members speak the same language and benefit from sharing their professional knowledge and skills (Robbins and Judge 2007, 546-547).

By contrast, large global organizations often use geography to group jobs, which ultimately results in having the same departments for each region (Robbins and Judge 2007, 540). Similarly, organizations offering very different products or services often organize their workforce according to product or service (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 419-421), meaning that the respective product or service is assigned a marketing, an accounting, and a human resources department, for example. Since each of these organizational structures yields different strengths and weaknesses, leaders need to carefully evaluate which structure best suits their organization's requirements, or if a mixture of two or more structures might overcome some of the weaknesses attached to the pure forms of the individual structures.

Generally, structures based on region or product/service require some decentralization of decision-making power, as regional or product/service heads are usually held responsible for the performance of their area (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 419-421). Along with the accountability, those heads have the authority to make decisions concerning their geographical areas or divisions. While this enables them to react more flexibly to regional or product-related changes and allows them to use specific local knowledge, it also comprises some risks: For one, regional or product/service heads might focus exclusively on their own area of responsibility (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 419-421). Secondly, they could lose sight of the organization's overall goals and performance (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 419-421). To address these risks, the remuneration of regional and product/service heads can be partly based on the performance of the organization as a whole, thus encouraging them to consider the broader picture as well as their individual area of responsibility (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 359). Aside from remuneration concerns, a structure based on region or product/service facilitates empowerment, since it necessarily includes the delegation of decision-making authority from the top to lower levels of the organizational hierarchy (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 419-421). Still, decision-making authority is only delegated to the regional or product/service heads in a first step, so that additional effort is required to ensure that the employees working within the respective areas will also be empowered by receiving some decision-making authority.

When delegating or re-distributing decision-making authority, the line of authority running from the lowest to the highest level of the organizational hierarchy (Robbins and Judge 2007, 541) may be interrupted. This chain of command defines which team member reports to which superior, ultimately establishing an unbroken line of communicating information from the bottom of the organization to its top management (Robbins and Judge 2007, 541). Orders and/or instructions follow the same lines, though in the opposite direction: They originate from the top management and are communicated down to the hierarchal level where they are to be executed. However, once employees are empowered, meaning that they are assuming some of the decisions that were formerly made by supervisors and/or managers (Robbins and Judge 2007, 52), the chain of command can be disrupted. While this likely requires leaders and managers to re-evaluate their own decision-making authority to adapt to the new circumstances, it does not necessarily harm the organization. Firstly, empowering employees is meant to comprise the delegation of authority (Wall, Cordery, and Clegg 2002), which implies breaking up existing decision-making structures. Secondly, the increasing use of information technology with all the organization's computers having access to the internal network ensures that information is shared and/or provided without the use of formal communication channels along the organizational hierarchy (Robbins and Judge 2007, 542).

Nonetheless, once old structures are broken up, new ones need to be established. This includes some degree of formalization with respect to the newly enriched jobs, like updating job descriptions as well as changing policies and procedures to reflect the re-organized distribution of decision-making authority (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 342). Still, organizations with empowered employees usually place less emphasis on formalization (Robbins and Judge 2007, 591), and often use a strong organizational culture (Robbins and Judge 2007, 577) to substitute

for the rigid formal standardization of the jobs within the organization (Robbins and Judge 2007, 545). Commonly, high formalization indicates that team members are expected to conduct their work according to precise policies and procedures, based on job descriptions that leave them little flexibility or autonomy (Robbins and Judge 2007, 545), which negates employee empowerment. For empowered staff, on the other hand, job descriptions are broader and more focused on listing tasks and responsibilities than on detailing how these have to be fulfilled (Robbins and Judge 2007, 545). Thus, employees have more freedom regarding the way they execute their tasks.

2.3 Implications of Empowering Organizational Structures

Similar to job descriptions, remuneration or reward systems may have to be adapted when decision-making authority is reassigned, jobs are redesigned, and workers are empowered (Wilkinson 1998). The most straightforward form of remuneration, namely the monthly salary or wage employees receive, usually remains unchanged, even if newly enriched jobs require them to do more or different tasks than before (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). Consequently, team members often fear an increase in work intensity without an adequate pay rise when organizations announce structural changes (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 96). This likely induces some employees to disapprove of intended changes, causing them to resist the introduction of the latter (Huertas-Valdivia, Gallego-Burín, and Lloréns-Montes 2019). Still, others will perceive the changes as beneficial and advantageous for their job satisfaction and intrinsic motivation (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). This boost in motivation and job satisfaction might even substitute a pay raise for the latter type of employee (Wilkinson 1998), thus saving the organization both trouble and money.

Nonetheless, organizations need to adjust salaries and wages, as the enriched jobs of the empowered staff often require more qualifications or additional skills. Moreover, the more skilled an employee is, the higher is the remuneration he or she expects in return. In addition to paying higher salaries or wages to newly hired team members, organizations need to invest in training their existing employees in order to ensure that they are prepared to fulfill their new tasks successfully (Wilkinson 198). Though offering trainings is often costly for the organization (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 366), it provides the employees with opportunities to learn and develop their personal skills and knowledge. This, in turn, fosters perceived competence among the workforce, triggering intrinsic motivation and increasing productivity (Lin, Wu, Ling 2017). Ultimately, the organization's investment in training its members will therefore be beneficial for the organization.

Besides fixed remunerations, such as salaries or wages, organizations also have to consider how variable incentives might be adapted to enriched jobs and delegated decision-making authority (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 359). Bearing in mind that the principal-agent model

assumes that the agent requires an incentive to act in the principal's best interest instead of his or her own, the same principle is applied here: Employees who receive decision-making authority also demand an incentive to make their decisions in the organization's best interest, not their own (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 357-359). Upon this basis, Bowen and Lawler (1992) argue that for empowered employees, at least part of the remuneration should be based on the overall organization's performance, in order to stress the importance of the respective jobs for their incumbents. Although this encourages team members to ponder the implications for the whole organization in the decision-making process, they are also held accountable for the organization's performance, regardless of how much impact their decisions have thereon.

A secretary's decision to answer emails before reading letters, for example, has no significant influence on the organization's performance. Still, when a part of this secretary's remuneration is linked to the organization's performance, the secretary is given some responsibility for the latter (Kanter 1979). According to Pfeiffer (2021), this violates the principle of controllability, stating that an employee's remuneration should only be based on factors that are within the respective employee's control. Nevertheless, the aforementioned secretary would likely accept such a remuneration as long as the organization's performance is good and the resulting incentive positive. However, an unsuccessful business year for the organization, leading to little or no incentive, is less likely to be accepted. Since the weak performance of the organization cannot be directly attributed to the secretary's efforts, he or she is likely to perceive the lack of incentive as punishment for something which is out of his or her control. This feeling of being treated unfairly negates empowerment, promotes a loss in motivation, and furthers dissatisfaction (Kanter 1979), all of which are undesirable consequences for the organization.

Aside from incentives to promote decisions made in line with the organization's interests and goals (Brickley, Smith, and Zimmerman 2016, 359), employees also need information when being entitled to make decisions. While all workers require at least the necessary information to complete their tasks successfully, empowered ones who are expected to make decisions obviously have to be more informed. In addition to immediate task-related information, decision-making team members have to be familiar with the organization's goals, vision, and performance, so that their decision can be made within the broader organizational context and in accordance with organizational interests (Wilkinson 1998). Consequently, organizations aiming to empower their staff are obliged to examine their information flows to ensure the delegation of decision-making authority to lower organizational levels is accompanied by the corresponding access to information (Kanter 1993, 279).

This particular challenge is facilitated by information technology (Robbins and Judge 2007, 542), as internal networks and mailing lists support an organizations' leaders in distributing information quickly and easily throughout the organization. Additionally, by using such technologies, information about the organization as a whole becomes available to all team members (Kanter 1993,

279), who are then enabled to see and understand how their individual jobs impact the organization altogether (Wilkinson 1998). As this enhances the perception of being able to influence the final outcomes, besides fostering the meaningfulness employees attach to their jobs, the availability of information also encourages the feeling of being empowered (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011).

Similar to information being available, empowered employees also need access to the other resources they require to accomplish their tasks, whether these are working time (Laschinger et al. 2001), office space (Spreitzer 1996), funds (Spreitzer 1996) or materials (Echebiri, Amundsen, and Engen 2020). While the ability to use such resources upon personal discretion is crucial, access to resources further implies that empowered workers are entitled to direct and command resources when necessary (Robbins and Judge 2007, 590-591). These can comprise additional funds, a new software, or support from another department to solve a specific issue in time. In other words, a hotel employee who is officially entitled to handle guest complaints, but does not have the automatic approval for giving the guest a small amenity or discount is not empowered, since he or she lacks the access to the required resources. Upon this basis, the respective team member is unlikely to consider him- or herself empowered, which effectively reduces his or her intrinsic motivation and productivity. Consequently, supervisors and leaders are obliged to delegate some of the power inherent to their positions (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 497), namely control over organizational resources, to their subordinates when aiming to achieve actual employee empowerment (Kanter 1979).

2.4 Leadership and Empowering Organizational Structures

As demonstrated by the previous sections, leaders have a significant impact on organizational design and structures (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 94). Still, different leaders favor different organizational structures, depending on their respective leadership style and the organizational environment (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 94-98). While highly bureaucratic and formalized organizations are best suited to stable environments with low uncertainty (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 344), decentralization increases organizational flexibility when faced with uncertain, unstable environments (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 380-381). Despite such environmental constraints, though, leaders are unlikely to adopt structural changes that negate their personal leadership styles (Robbins and Judge 2007, 537-538). Consequently, an authoritative leader who is convinced that he or she is the only person capable of making important decisions does not foster decentralization, no matter the organizational requirements. On the other hand, organizations tend to hire leaders suited to their current situation and challenges (Robbins and Judge 2007, 401, 429), so that the selection effect is expected to mediate discrepancies between leadership style and organizational requirements to some extent. Nonetheless, leadership style remains a crucial impacting factor for organizational structure and design (Sun et al. 2012), justifying a closer look at some common leadership styles.

Focusing on leaders' characteristics and leadership theory in a political context, James M. Burns (1978) conceptualized the idea of transactional and transforming leadership. Since then, his theory has been applied to other contexts, like organizations, by many different authors investigating leadership. Drawing on Burns' (1978) transforming leadership, Bernard M. Bass (1985) developed his idea of transformational leadership in organizations, focusing on the effect of leaders on their respective followers. As indicated by the term "transformational", these leaders transform their followers from purely self-centered individuals into people striving for a higher goal, using shared values to motivate the latter to invest more of their resources and/or work harder in order to achieve the transformational leader's stated "higher goal" (Bass 1999). By contrast, transactional leadership is focused on specific exchanges (Burns 1978, 19-20), like effort for money.

While the transformational and the transactional approach to leadership can be seen as separate concepts, they can also be viewed as two ends of a leadership continuum (Judge and Piccolo 2004), in which a leader's personal style of leadership is derived from the style he or she displays most often (Bass 1999). Despite the popular impression that transformational leadership is superior to transactional leadership (Burns 1978, 4), the opposite can also be true in certain situations (Bass 1990). In other words, some situations call for transformational leadership, while transactional leadership is more successful in others (Bass 1990). Therefore, Bass (1999) is convinced that being the best possible leader requires being both transactional leadership are considered to enhance a transactional leader's effectiveness (Bass 1999). Still, it remains impossible to effectively substitute a transformational leader for a transactional leader (Bass 1999), as the transactional aspects remain important for ensuring performance on a day-to-day basis (Bass 1990).

Until the beginning of the 2000s, these transactional and transformational leadership concepts dominated leadership research (Anderson and Sun 2017). Since then, several new leadership styles – charismatic leadership, ethical leadership, or servant leadership, to name a few – have been introduced, with the aim to include aspects neglected by the transactional/transformational approach (Anderson and Sun 2017). However, a closer look at the respective aspects often shows that the differences between the new approaches and the established transactional/ transformational approach are small. Charismatic leadership, for example, describes leaders who create inspiring visions of future goals and motivate followers to commit themselves to these goals (Anderson and Sun 2017). The same aspects are covered by the "inspirational motivation" dimension of Bass' (1997) transformational leadership. Therefore, charismatic leadership and transformational leadership are similar enough to omit any differentiation between the two leadership styles (Anderson and Sun 2017).

Ethical leadership focuses on moral conduct, decision-making, and interaction (Anderson and Sun 2017). Thus, the leader is expected to act as a role model for his or her values, especially

honesty, fairness, and ethical decision-making principles (Anderson and Sun 2017). While these values are not explicitly stated as part of transformational leadership, they are nonetheless included in the dimensions "individualized consideration", which focuses on the individual employee with his or her personal needs (Bass 1990), and "inspirational motivation", which centers on attractive leader behavior (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Furthermore, transformational leaders also act as role models, since they intend to strengthen their subordinates' intrinsic motivation by linking work-related activities to their individual values and beliefs (Burns 1978, 19). Moreover, ethical leaders encourage moral behavior among employees by giving rewards for ethical conduct (Anderson and Sun 2017), which reminds of the exchange at the basis of transactional leadership (Burns 1978, 19-20). Although this transactional approach differentiates ethical from transformational leadership, the differences between transformational and ethical leadership are significantly smaller than the similarities (Anderson and Sun 2017).

When investigating servant leadership, the situation is similar. Servant leadership strongly focuses on "serving" followers, meaning that the leader combines directing employees with actively fostering their personal development (Anderson and Sun 2017). To do so, the leader is altruistic, encouraging new ideas to address old problems, forgiving, humble, authentic, and behaving ethically, just to mention some of the twelve characteristics of servant leaders listed by Anderson and Sun (2017). Interestingly, many of these characteristics are also comprised in the four dimensions of transformational leadership, like fostering innovation or treating subordinates as human beings deserving of respect (Bass 1990). Therefore, once again, the similarities between the two leadership concepts seem to be more prominent than the differences (Anderson and Sun 2017).

Considering that Anderson and Sun (2017) reach the same conclusion regarding pragmatic leadership and authentic leadership, focusing any additional research, especially meta-analytic research, on transactional and transformational leadership seems appropriate. Since these two leadership styles comprise most of the characteristics and dimensions highlighted by the more recently developed leadership styles (Anderson and Sun 2017), transactional and transformational leadership retain their relevance and remain at the forefront of leadership research.

3 Development of the Research Model

Based on the literature discussed in the previous chapter, a research model was developed to summarize the ideas guiding this master's thesis. As indicated by Figure 1, leadership is basically argued to impact both structural and psychological empowerment. Leaders address the former by changing the assignment of decision-making authority (Bowen and Lawler 1992), for example, or by reorganizing the company's task distribution (Hackman 1980). Psychological empowerment, on the other hand, is facilitated by offering employees more autonomy in their job roles (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011), or providing them with a broader range of information about their team or department (Bowen and Lawler 1992), thus fostering their understanding of the importance of their jobs (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997) for their teams or departments. This, in turn, supports the belief of having a meaningful job, which enhances the perception of being empowered (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997).



Source: own representation

To graphically illustrate these arguments, Figure 2 presents a more detailed version of the research model. It features all the dimensions on which the measurement constructs for transactional and transformational leadership are based. Likewise, the aspects comprised in the measurement constructs for structural and psychological empowerment are indicated. Hence, Figure 2 not only details the factors that are necessary to develop empowerment, but also the potential starting points for leaders who aim to foster their subordinates' empowerment.





Source: own representation based on Bass (1997), Thomas and Velthouse (1990), Spreitzer (1996), Bowen and Lawler (1992), and Laschinger et al. (2001)

In the subsequent sections, each of the dimensions displayed in Figure 2 is explained in detail, so that the measurement constructs for all of the aforementioned concepts are clearly defined. These distinct construct definitions establish the foundation for determining the boundaries of selecting papers for the following meta-analysis. Ultimately, only studies investigating precisely those concepts – ideally with the same measurement constructs – are included in order to avoid what Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 516) call the comparison of apples and oranges.

3.1 Leadership Concepts

For the leadership concepts underlying this meta-analysis, all dimensions of transactional and transformational leadership with their corresponding measurement constructs are used. In more specific terms, the dimensions comprised in these constructs are contingent reward, active management-by-exception, and passive management-by-exception for transactional leadership as well as idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration for transformational leadership (Bass 1997). The following paragraphs define each

of these dimensions, starting with transactional leadership, then continuing with transformational leadership.

3.1.1 Transactional Leadership

The first dimension of transactional leadership, contingent reward, implies a pre-defined reward that will be obtained once a specific task is complete or a set performance goal has been achieved (Young et al. 2021). However, this reward is paired with the threat of a specific punishment when failing to complete the task or to achieve the performance goal (Young et al. 2021). Hence, the transaction is enforced by both the positive opportunity to attain a reward and the negative possibility to incur a penalty. In most organizational settings, the contingent reward means a wage or salary that employees receive on a regular basis, though it can be combined with a bonus system allocating additional rewards for clearly stated achievements. Consequently, employees know exactly what they are supposed to do in order to obtain their reward and avoid retribution. This establishes a bureaucratic framework intended to reduce uncertainty (Kanter 1993, 48), while facilitating the task of directing team members toward a specific outcome at the same time, as their individual reward depends on this particular outcome (Bass 1999). Thus, providing a contingent reward appeals to the employees' self-interest as a motivational source (Bass 1999). Furthermore, it implies maintaining the status quo, as workers are not encouraged to question or criticize the status quo and develop innovative ideas (Afsar et al. 2017).

The second dimension of transactional leadership, management-by-exception (Bass 1997), adds an aspect of control to the aforementioned contingent reward. The conceptual difference between active and passive management-by-exception is based on the way leaders monitor their subordinates' performance and take corrective action in case of problems (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Active management-by-exception involves a constant control of employees' performance by the leader, so that indications of problems are perceived in advance (Judge and Piccolo 2004). This enables the leader to take corrective action before noticeable damages arise or the production process is seriously disrupted (Young et al. 2021). By contrast, passive leaders do not monitor their subordinate team members as closely (Young et al. 2021). Unconcerned with noticing potential problems in time, these leaders act only once a problem has already manifested itself (Young et al. 2021). As a result, they tend to incur damages or disruptions of the production process more often than their actively monitoring colleagues.

3.1.2 Transformational Leadership

Contrasting with the transactional exchanges explained so far, transformational leaders aim to elicit a change in their employees, drawing on their values and stimulating their desire to achieve higher goals (Judge and Piccolo 2004). While the transactional exchange is based on self-centered employees pursuing their own personal interests (Bass 1999), transformational leaders teach their employees to broaden their horizons and consider the bigger picture (Bass 1990).

Thus, employees start appreciating the value of a goal in itself, for the benefit it yields for the team or the organization as a whole, not just for the personal reward – and punishment avoidance – it promises them individually. Based on this idea, Bass (1997) specified the aforementioned four dimensions of transformational leadership that represent the underlying concepts measured for the purpose of this meta-analysis.

The first of these dimensions, idealized influence, is also called charisma (Bass 1997). It refers to the leader's personal attributes and behavior, describing his or her ability to elate followers (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Charismatic leaders are admired by their followers, who identify with them (Judge and Piccolo 2004), turning the leader's goals into their own. By acting as a role model, transformational leaders further show their subordinates that goals above and beyond the daily business are worth striving for (Shamir, House, and Arthur 1993). Upon this basis, employees surpass their focus on a transactional exchange by experiencing the intrinsic reward of acting on their values and beliefs (Bass 1997). Additionally, charisma is considered crucial to enhancing team members' emotional relationship to their leader, marking it as a necessary prerequisite for transformational leaders to misjudge their competence in influencing others and become over-confident, especially if they have personalities with narcissist tendencies (Ma and Jiang 2018).

Inspirational motivation, the second dimension of transformational leadership (Bass 1997), indicates the leaders' ability to create an appealing vision of the future or a goal, thus inspiring employees to embrace this vision and to work hard toward its completion (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Although this goal is usually extensive and hard to measure (Shamir, House, and Arthur 1993), transformational leaders convince their followers to share their goals or visions, resulting in every achievement being turned into a shared success (Burns 1978, 19). Furthermore, as the leader's articulated vision touches on employees' values and beliefs, it also serves to raise their intrinsic motivation (Burns 1978, 19) and to reduce the need for leaders to closely monitor their subordinates' task performance (Schermuly et al. 2022). In other words, team members become convinced that by reaching the leader's stated goal, they will achieve an inherently rewarding outcome (Bass 1997). Therefore, the employees' reward for performance exceeds a transactional exchange, since they do not only receive a measurable financial compensation in form of a wage or salary, but also feel the indeterminate intrinsic satisfaction of having made a valuable contribution to their team and/or organization (Barroso Castro, Villegas Perinan, and Casillas Bueno 2008).

The third dimension of transformational leadership listed by Bass (1997), namely intellectual stimulation, refers to the way the leader challenges the status quo (Bass 1990), including assumptions, policies, and procedures detailing how things are supposed to be done in a specific organization. In addition, intellectually stimulating leaders are interested in their subordinate employees'

thoughts and opinions, encouraging them to voice these (Judge and Piccolo 2004). When implementing new ideas, leaders are willing to take risks (Judge and Piccolo 2004), which entails accepting that every change potentially yields unforeseen challenges. However, these challenges are not necessarily considered failures, but rather additional opportunities for innovative solutions or further improvement. Hence, intellectual stimulation fosters creativity and innovation among employees (Bass 1999).

Individualized consideration represents the last dimension of transformational leadership (Bass 1997) and describes the leader's focus on the individual follower's needs (Bass 1999). Besides listening attentively to their workers' concerns, the leader also determines their individual development needs (Bass 1999). Upon this basis, the leader offers his or her subordinates mentoring or coaching to ensure their personal growth (Judge and Piccolo 2004). This educational process often includes delegating tasks to team members as a learning experience (Bass 1999). By providing such opportunities to develop competences and to enhance personal skills, leaders ultimately turn their employees into leaders as well (Burns 1978, 34), though on a smaller scale. Moreover, assuming that employees tend to model their own behavior on their leader's behavior (Bass 1990), transformational leaders are likely to raise new transformational leaders in their teams.

In sum, all papers investigating leadership by using contingent reward, active management-byexception, passive management-by-exception, idealized influence/charisma, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass 1997) are conceptually suited to be included in the meta-analysis, as they measure the same underlying constructs. In other words, all studies based on the full range of leadership theory with its respective measurement constructs (Antonakis, Avolio, and Sivasubramaniam 2003) are eligible to be a part of the metaanalysis. Yet, as previously mentioned, publications applying the same constructs with other measures will also be used, as long as they adhere to the concepts of the full range of leadership theory.

3.2 Empowerment Concepts

When discussing employee empowerment concepts, a distinction has to be made between psychological and structural empowerment. Psychological empowerment concentrates on motivational (Thomas and Velthouse 1990) and cognitive (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997) processes related to and taking place within the individual employee's mind. Structural empowerment, on the other hand, focuses on organizational factors (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011) and workplace atmosphere (Tuuli et al. 2012), both of which are external to and independent from the individual employee (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). Nonetheless, both psychological and structural aspects are important for employees to perceive themselves as empowered, since

employee empowerment basically implies an increase in motivation or personal competence as well as a transfer of authority (Thomas and Velthouse 1990).

3.2.1 Psychological Empowerment

Focusing on psychological empowerment, there are four dimensions commonly used to measure this concept, namely impact, competence, meaningfulness, and choice (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). The first of these, impact, indicates whether an employee can make a valuable contribution by completing his or her task (Thomas and Velthouse 1990) or the degree to which he or she is able to influence the final outcome (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason (1997) use a similar definition, stating that the individual perception of making a difference on work outcomes by adapting the underlying strategic, administrative, or operational processes is essential to team members feeling empowered. Without the belief that their work impacts their team and/or organization positively, employees will be unable to consider themselves empowered, which tends to result in lower intrinsic motivation. To support workers' perceived impact on outcomes, leaders can grant them a higher amount of autonomy and adopt a more participative leadership style (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011).

The second dimension of psychological empowerment, competence, refers to the amount of personal ability and the skills an employee can use to work on a given task (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). Refining this definition by stressing the individual aspect, Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason (1997) note that the perception of personal competence is based on the employee's selfconfidence, which refers to team members being convinced that they are knowledgeable and in possession of the necessary skills to complete a given task. Workers lacking such self-confidence with respect to their own competence usually see themselves as incapable and falling short of their employer's expectations, which effectively lowers their feeling of empowerment (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). Leaders can enhance their subordinates' perceived competence by providing constructive feedback, mentoring, and coaching (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011) as well as by proving their trust in their employees' skills, for example by delegating authority or having them participate in setting goals (Huertas-Valdivia, Llorens-Montes, and Riuz-Moreno 2018).

Meaningfulness reflects how much an employee cares for a given task, which, in turn, depends on how well the task is aligned with the respective person's intrinsic values and beliefs (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). Similarly, the sense of meaning included in the model presented by Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason (1997) describes the overlap of the employee's role at work with his or her personal values and beliefs. A high overlap allows the team member to behave "in character", thus fostering intrinsic motivation and satisfaction, whereas little congruence can cause staff to experience strain (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). In order to enhance the meaning employees attach to their work roles, leaders can share information, not only pertaining to the immediate work roles, but also to the underlying strategy and long-term goals (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). Once the former know what their organization aims to achieve, they are better able to see the value they contribute by executing their respective tasks and roles.

The last of the psychological factors, choice, assigns accountability to the worker (Thomas and Velthouse 1990), meaning that he or she is held responsible for the actions resulting from his or her choices. Consequently, a leader-follower relationship based on trust, along with the leader's support for the employee and encouragement of the latter's ideas, fosters the employee's feeling of being in control of his or her actions (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). This belief of being the initiator of one's actions is also called "self-determination" (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997), which emphasizes the importance of employees' perceived autonomy in the organizational setting. Team members who constantly believe that they are simply performing according to orders from hierarchically superior managers or leaders will never consider themselves empowered (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997).

3.2.2 Structural Empowerment

Turning to the concepts of structural empowerment, six dimensions are used to measure structural empowerment: information sharing (Bowen and Lawler 1992), access to required resources (Spreitzer 1996), decision-making power, rewards, professional knowledge combined with corresponding trainings (Bowen and Lawler 1992), and organizational support (Laschinger et al. 2001). Given that there are different questionnaires and scales for measuring these aspects, they are also labelled differently, though the underlying conceptual differences are often negligible. Thus, for the purpose of this meta-analysis, conceptually similar factors are summed up and referred to under the same label to avoid confusion.

The first of the dimensions listed above is information sharing (e.g. Bowen and Lawler 1992; Spreitzer 1996; Seibert, Silver, and Randolph 2004). Sharing relevant information refers to the organization providing its members with all the information they need to successfully fulfill their tasks (Bowen and Lawler 1992), along with information relating to the organization as a whole, like organizational performance and strategic goals (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). On the basis of shared information, team members are better capable of evaluating the importance of their individual jobs for the organization as a whole, thus enhancing their perception of empowerment (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). Furthermore, having access to sensitive information indicates the organization's trust in its employees, showing them that they are valued members of the organization.

In addition to information, structurally empowered employees also have access to the resources they require in order to execute their job-related tasks and to achieve the goals set for them. This implies, for example, that workers who have the freedom to organize the project they are working on by themselves, also have the right to request support from colleagues when necessary, even if the respective colleagues work for a different department. If this is not possible, employees are

unlikely to consider themselves structurally empowered. Besides working time – which needs to be sufficient for the completion of all assigned tasks (Laschinger et al. 2001) – access to resources also comprises materials (Echebiri, Amundsen, and Engen 2020), funds, and space in which to work (Spreitzer 1996).

The third dimension of structural empowerment is the delegation of decision-making power from upper to lower hierarchical levels (Bowen and Lawler 1992), though not necessarily to the very bottom of the hierarchy (Reitzig 2022, 136). At some point, further downward delegation of a specific decision could become counterproductive (Reitzig 2022, 136). Nonetheless, the delegation of authority is reflected by organizational structures, policies, and guidelines. This structural foundation signifies a notable difference from the psychological factor "choice", which represents how individual employees perceive their autonomy in making decisions, independent from structural conditions. While this appears straightforward, it cannot be assumed that officially granting employees the right to make specific decisions will truly empower them to do so.

Considering that "power is the ability to get things done" (Kanter 1993, 166), truly powerful individuals possess the ability use both the formal authority inherent in their positions and the support from their informal social network (Kanter 1993, 164), which usually comprises samelevel colleagues, subordinates, superiors, and external stakeholders like customers or suppliers (Spreitzer 1996). Whereas employees with a larger social network tend to receive more support and therefore have more informal power, powerless individuals lack either of the aforementioned sources of power (Kanter 1993, 196-197). A department head who cannot convince his superior to provide him or her with additional manpower to complete a specific project in time will be considered powerless, as will a supervisor who is not allowed to reward or discipline a subordinate based on the latter's behavior or performance (Kanter 1993, 186-187). Hence, only employees possessing access to both power sources are properly equipped to truly execute the decisionmaking power delegated by upper hierarchical levels.

The next dimension applied to measure structural empowerment, rewards, refers to what employees receive in return for their effort or performance. Bowen and Lawler (1992) state that rewards should be linked to the organization's performance, which stresses the importance of the individual employee's job for the organization in its entirety. Seibert, Silver, and Randolph (2004), on the other hand, argue that linking rewards to employees' individual performance fosters their individual accountability for their respective results. Either way, rewards based on specific performance goals increase the attraction of actively pursuing those goals for employees, as their selfinterest encourages them to obtain the reward.

Furthermore, the presence of necessary professional knowledge and corresponding trainings to enhance this knowledge indicates structural empowerment. Team members need to be equipped with the knowledge they require to complete their tasks efficiently and successfully (Bowen and Lawler 1992). Moreover, by offering challenging work as well as opportunities to learn and acquire

new knowledge or skills (Laschinger et al. 2001), organizations foster structural empowerment while enhancing their employees' personal development and growth (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997).

Last but not least, Laschinger et al. (2001) also mention support provided by the organization as indicative of structural empowerment. This support entails lauding the individual employee regarding things he or she does well and explaining things that could be improved on (Laschinger et al. 2001). In addition to the provision of constructive feedback (Monje Amor, Xanthopoulou, and Calvo 2021), organizational support implies offering team members helpful hints and advice on solving problems (Echebiri, Amundsen, and Engen 2020) instead of taking the problem away from them. Besides, subordinates receive active help from their superiors when attempting to resolve issues by themselves (Laschinger et al. 2001). For example, a supervisor demonstrates a front-line employee how to cope with a specific issue, which enables the latter to handle similar situations on his or her own in the future. This, in turn, emphasizes structural empowerment by empowering employees to act autonomously.

Ultimately, measuring the conceptual dimensions of structural empowerment is more complicated than measuring those indicating psychological empowerment. Not only are the concepts underlying the respective measurement constructs more uniform for psychological empowerment, but also the questionnaires used to gather data are usually the same. For structural empowerment, by contrast, the concepts show more variety, though the latter often remains small. Nonetheless, differing concepts and measurement constructs cause differences in the questionnaires used for data collection, so that the coding of the data according to the aforementioned conceptual factors will be more challenging and complicated for structural empowerment than for psychological empowerment.

3.3 Hypotheses

Drawing on the details of transactional and transformational leadership as well as structural and psychological empowerment presented in the previous sections, eight hypotheses are derived. The latter summarize the basic expectations regarding the correlations between leadership and empowerment that are investigated by this meta-analysis.

Pertaining to transactional leadership, only one of its dimensions can be interpreted as somewhat supporting of empowerment: contingent reward. The clearly stated connection between rewards and performance (Judge and Piccolo 2004) potentially links the employee's individual performance to the organization's goals, which is a dimension of structural empowerment (Bowen and Lawler 1992). By contrast, the delegation of decision-making authority is unlikely to happen with a transactional leader (Young et al. 2021), so that this dimension of structural empowerment is hindered rather than supported. Moreover, transactional leaders usually tend to accept their structural conditions without being interested in major changes (Afsar et al. 2017), which makes

them unlikely to establish new, more empowering organizational structures. Likewise, both active and passive management-by-exception hinder structural empowerment rather than facilitate it, as the leader retains his or her decision-making power (Young et al. 2021). Nonetheless, given that all dimensions of transactional leadership comprise a direct performance – reward link (Bass 1997), transactional leadership is assumed to have a slight positive impact on structural empowerment.

H1: Transactional leadership positively correlates with structural empowerment.

Regarding psychological empowerment, contingent rewards can facilitate the perception of competence (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997) when employees succeed at completing their tasks. Furthermore, passive management-by-exception possibly provides employees with additional self-determination (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997), since the leader does not constantly monitor his or her subordinates' performance (Judge and Piccolo 2004). However, this autonomy is limited, as leaders retain their power to make decisions and to allocate resources (Kanter 1993, 165), so that the effect on psychological empowerment remains small. Therefore, transactional leadership is presumed to have only a small impact on psychological empowerment.

H2: Transactional leadership positively correlates with psychological empowerment.

Based on the arguments mentioned above, transactional leadership is assumed to have a limited effect on psychological empowerment by fostering perceptions of competence (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997) and choice (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). Though leaders usually do this unconsciously, given that they concentrate on the exchange of effort for pay (Burns 1978, 19-20), their impact on structural empowerment is even less. Only contingent reward leadership relates to a dimension of structural empowerment, namely rewards (Bowen and Lawler 1992). Additionally, transactional leaders tend to avoid changing their work environments (Afsar et al. 2017), rendering them unlikely to purposely focus on one of structural empowerment's other dimensions, like access to information (Bowen and Lawler 1992) or organizational support (Laschinger et al. 2001). Thus, transactional leadership's correlation with structural empowerment is argued to be weaker than the one with psychological empowerment.

H3: Transactional leadership correlates stronger with psychological empowerment than with structural empowerment.

Unlike their transactional colleagues, transformational leaders are likely to induce and embrace changes (Burns 1978, 251-254). Mostly, they exert only a limited amount of supervision (Afsar et al. 2017) and voluntarily delegate some of their decision-making authority to their team members (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017), both of which support structural empowerment. Furthermore, transformational leaders inform their subordinates not only about the specific tasks they are expected to perform, but also about the performance and the strategic goals of the organization as a whole

(Bowen and Lawler 1992). Combining the communication of extensive information with nonroutine tasks that encourage personal growth (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997), transformational leaders positively influence several dimensions of structural empowerment, e.g. information sharing and professional knowledge (Bowen and Lawler 1992).

H4: Transformational leadership positively correlates with structural empowerment.

Besides facilitating structural empowerment, transformational leaders encourage their subordinates to think critically about their structural environment and develop ideas for improvement (Bass 1999). By doing so, they strengthen their team members' belief of being competent (Thomas and Velthouse 1990) and having an impact on the final outcome (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017), thus addressing two dimensions of psychological empowerment. Since transformational leaders also tend to favor large spans of control (Afsar et al. 2017), employees have some autonomy to choose what task to work on and how to execute it (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). This further promotes their perception of being empowered. Hence, it is argued that transformational leaders encourage their subordinates' psychological empowerment.

H5: Transformational leadership positively correlates with psychological empowerment.

Though transformational leaders enhance both structural and psychological empowerment, it is expected that their active support of change (Burns 1978, 251-254) facilitates structural empowerment more than psychological empowerment. Essentially, transformational leaders modifying the work conditions usually address all six dimensions of structural empowerment, from supplying information exceeding the immediate task requirements to delegating decision-making authority (Bowen and Lawler 1992) and providing organizational support (Laschinger et al. 2001). Besides, such structural changes are formalized by the establishment of corresponding policies and procedures (Judge and Piccolo 2004), so that they are objectively existing and available to all workers they concern. By contrast, psychological empowerment happens inside the individual employee's mind (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Consequently, leaders have a limited impact on how team members perceive their work conditions and evaluate their empowerment, as the former cannot force the latter to reach the conclusion they aim for. In other words, despite transformational leaders supporting empowerment cognitions, they lack the ultimate power to ensure their desired perceptions and beliefs are the same as the ones held by their staff. Hence, the impact of transformational leadership on structural empowerment is assumed to be more pronounced than on psychological empowerment.

H6: Transformational leadership correlates stronger with structural empowerment than with psychological empowerment.

Last but not least, considering the arguments sustaining hypothesis H1 through hypothesis H6, transformational leadership is expected to be more influential in establishing both structural and psychological empowerment.

H7: The correlation of transformational leadership and structural empowerment is stronger than the correlation of transactional leadership and structural empowerment.

H8: The correlation of transformational leadership and psychological empowerment is stronger than the correlation of transactional leadership and psychological empowerment.

4 Methodology

In general terms, a meta-analysis aims to combine the results of individual studies across the same concepts for a broader and more reliable analysis of these results (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 13). By doing so, a meta-analysis can uncover similarities among results, even when they seem to differ at first glance, since it reveals and corrects man-made errors, which are often responsible for seemingly conflicting results presented in different papers (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 29). Hence, a meta-analysis can statistically demonstrate whether the variability of the individual study results is based on differences in the underlying population values (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 13-14). Alternatively, the analyzed variability might occur due to measurement errors (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 13-14). Therefore, meta-analyses are a more powerful tool to generate a complete picture of the interactions between specific variables than individual studies investigating the same variables (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 35-37). By combining the numerous individual results like jigsaw pieces, a clearer and broader picture can be created, integrating different results and aspects into a few generalizable insights (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 38).

Bearing in mind that meta-analyses are based on the results of published – and sometimes unpublished – studies (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 506-509), the process of searching for data to be included in the meta-analysis needs to be designed carefully. Similarly, the criteria to include or exclude any particular paper from the analysis have to be determined with caution, as they should reflect the main concepts under analysis without excluding too many of them. Once the studies have been selected, the collected data needs to be coded. The aim here is to have the same pieces of information from all individual studies included in the analysis, so that they can be accumulated and analyzed without comparing and/or mixing fundamentally different concepts or scales. The subsequent step of a meta-analysis, in line with the methods presented by Hunter and Schmidt (1990), is the correction of the original study results for the most common errors, e.g. error of measurement and sampling error, before finally cumulating the corrected results across the individual studies for the actual analysis.

4.1 Accumulating Data

For the accumulation of the papers for the meta-analysis, the Web of Science and the Scopus databases with their collection of scientific publications are used. To conduct the search, the titles, abstracts, and keywords of the publications are searched for the keywords "transactional leadership" and "transformational leadership", in combination with "structural empowerment", "psychological empowerment", "employee empowerment", "follower empowerment", "empowerment", ment climate" and "work environment", respectively.
	initial search results		
keyword combination	Web of Science	Scopus	
transactional leadership AND structural empowerment	91	27	
transactional leadership AND employee empowerment	167	58	
transactional leadership AND follower empowerment	80	33	
transactional leadership AND empowerment climate	34	8	
transactional leadership AND work environment	70	41	
transactional leadership AND psychological empowerment	137	46	
transformational leadership AND structural empowerment	364	28	
transformational leadership AND employee empowerment	720	26	
transformational leadership AND follower empowerment	218	115	
transformational leadership AND empowerment climate	156	6	
transformational leadership AND work environment	348	154	
transformational leadership AND psychological empowerment	593	185	

Table 1Keyword Combinations and Initial Search ResultsSource: own representation

As indicated by Table 1, this yields a total of twelve keyword combinations used to search the publications within both databases, generating 3,705 initial search results. To reduce this large number of results, only studies published within academic journals achieving a rank of two or above according to the Academic Journal Guide 2021 (CABS 2021) are considered appropriate for further consideration in order to ensure a suitable quality of the papers being analyzed. Applying this restriction reduces the number of search results to 1,242, with 1,075 papers originating from the Web of Science and another 167 from Scopus. Next, all papers written in a language other than English are excluded, causing another 66 studies to be deleted, 41 from the Web of Science results and 25 from the Scopus ones. As the remaining 1,176 results still include duplicates, meaning papers that have been found with several different keyword combinations, these 721 publications are eliminated, leaving 455 studies to be meticulously evaluated regarding their suitability for inclusion in the subsequent meta-analysis. To do so, those papers are examined for their compliance with additional inclusion criteria.

The first among these inclusion criteria is the provision of empirical data, since they are essential for a meta-analysis. Thus, all papers not containing quantitative data are defined as incompatible with the requirements of this meta-analysis, causing them to be omitted from further consideration. In numerical terms, this concerns 29 literature reviews along with eleven interview-based studies and case studies that are excluded, so that 415 studies remain to be evaluated. In the

next step, all other meta-analyses are removed from the pool of potentially useful papers.¹ The reason behind this step is that a meta-analysis presents data that has already been accumulated from a range of individual studies, whereas this thesis needs the individual studies' stated effect sizes for conducting its own meta-analysis. Hence, another 15 papers are rejected, leaving 400 for the evaluation of the comprised concepts and measurement constructs.

Given that 206 of those studies investigate concepts other than leadership and empowerment, the number shrinks to 194 potentially suitable papers. From those 194 papers, 25 focus on leadership styles other than transactional and transformational leadership, while another 22 do not feature a leadership measurement construct corresponding to section 3.1 Leadership Concepts, causing them to be excluded. Afterwards, 147 studies remain, 98 of which have to be disregarded due to the application of an empowerment measurement construct deviating from section 3.2 Empowerment Concepts. Including these papers despite the differing measurement constructs would cause the meta-analysis to compare "apples and oranges" (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 516) and compromise its validity. Finally, another four papers have to be rejected because they are examining the organizational or group level correlation of leadership and empowerment instead of the individual level required for this meta-analysis.

A graphical overview over the search results and the process of applying all exclusion criteria is depicted in Figure 3. Ultimately, the initial search results are narrowed down to 45 studies that qualified for entering the coding process. This number of suitable papers is comparable to what other researchers have used for similar meta-analyses. For example, Schermuly et al. (2022) included 48 studies describing the correlation between transactional and transformational leader-ship and psychological empowerment, with seven values for the former and 41 values for the latter correlation. Likewise, Young et al. (2021) based their meta-analysis of the relationship between psychological empowerment and transactional leadership on a total of ten individual studies.

¹ In terms of topic, the excluded meta-analyses vary significantly. One paper investigates the effect of transformational leadership on creativity and innovation (Lee et al. 2020), another focuses on the impact of transactional leadership on follower performance (Young et al. 2021). Moreover, several other leadership styles and their implications are being analyzed, for example the consequences of servant leadership (Zhang et al. 2021), the impact of ambidextrous leadership on innovation (Rosing, Frese, and Bausch 2011), or the influence of empowering leadership on the behavior displayed by team members at work (Lee, Willis, and Tian 2018). By contrast, Martin et al. (2016) focus on how the leader-member exchange contributes to employee performance and organizational citizenship behavior. In sum, none of these meta-analyses explore the relationship between leadership and empowerment. The only meta-analysis covering a similar topic is the one published by Schermuly et al. (2022), which quantifies the correlation of empowering leadership, servant leadership, transactional leadership, and transformational leadership with psychological empowerment. Further details are presented in section 6.4 Comparing the Presented Results with Those of Schermuly et al. (2022).



Source: own representation

After the process of sorting and evaluating the publications is completed, two crucial decisions have to be made before the data can be coded and analyzed. Firstly, it needs to be decided whether a fixed-effects model or a random-effects model is used (Field and Gillett 2010). Secondly, an appropriate meta-analytic method has to be selected, supporting the choice of model. For the model, a random-effects model is chosen, since it assumes that the results from the individual studies should be heterogeneous, as they are derived from populations with differing average effect sizes (Field and Gillett 2010). By contrast, the fixed-effects model assumes that the average effect size of the studies included in the meta-analysis is fixed, so that it could be predicted based on a few selected variables (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 405-407).

A first perusal of the studies comprised in the sample for this meta-analysis indicates that they are heterogeneous: The respective data has been collected in various countries, like the USA (e.g. DeCelles, Tesluk, and Taxman 2013), Turkey (e.g. Aksoy and Bayazit 2022), China (e.g. Afsar et al. 2017) or Germany (e.g. Creon and Schermuly 2022). Besides spanning a variety of countries and their corresponding cultures, the data also originates from different industries, for example from the care sector (e.g. Avolio et al. 2004), the IT sector (e.g. Mittal 2016), or the tourism industry (e.g. Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína 2020). Additionally, the size of the companies where the individual studies' survey participants work varies, along with the age and gender distributions. Hence, the sample is considered heterogeneous, causing the random-effects model to be preferred over the fixed-effects model. Furthermore, this model allows for the generalization of the meta-analytic results, while also being the favorite one for meta-analyses in social sciences (Field and Gillett 2010), which includes the area of research covered by this thesis.

The second choice to be made, regarding the method to be used when conducting the metaanalysis, is directly linked to the random-effects model which has been selected. Following this decision, all methods based on fixed-effects models, like the one developed by Rosenthal and Rubin (Field and Gillett 2010), cannot be used. Nonetheless, the random-effects model still offers two alternative methods, one promoted by Hunter and Schmidt, the other by Hedges and Olkin (Field and Gillett 2010). Considering that several extensive Monte Carlo simulations conducted by different researchers showed that the Hunter-Schmidt method is more accurate (Field and Gillett 2010), it can be argued to be preferable to the Hedges-Olkin method. Moreover, the Hunter-Schmidt method is the most commonly used meta-analytic method when analyzing papers from leadership or psychology literature (Lowe, Kroeck, and Sivasubramaniam 1996), so that it was decided to adhere to this standard and apply the Hunter-Schmidt method for this thesis as well.

4.2 Selecting Measures for the Leadership and Empowerment Concepts

In order to empirically measure the concepts presented in chapter 3 Development of the Research Model, researchers can basically choose between conducting surveys, experiments, and observations. For experiments, a further distinction has to be made between laboratory experiments and field experiments. This stems from laboratory experiments providing the researcher with much more control over the settings and conditions of the experiments, as well as the participants, than field experiments (Levy Paluck and Cialdini 2014). In the latter type of experiment, the researcher has to adapt the experiment to the given settings, as not all factors can be adjusted to suit the respective research project (Smith 2014). Similarly, participants tend to be people who are present in the chosen setting, so that the researcher has less impact on the selection of his or her participants (Levy Paluck and Cialdini 2014). Consequently, these two types of experiments

cannot be compared for the purpose of a meta-analysis, meaning that their results need to be analyzed separately (Eagly and Johnson 1990). However, none of the studies selected for this meta-analysis are experiments, so that the implications of experiments are irrelevant for conducting it.

Nonetheless, further distinctions have to be made regarding the aforementioned experiments, observational studies, and survey studies (Levy Paluck and Cialdini 2014). Unlike experiments, researchers conducting non-participant observations simply note and examine what they observe in a given setting (Tharenou, Donohue, and Cooper 2007, 24), without actively impacting any aspect of either the setting or the participants. Survey studies, on the other hand, ask for participants opinions on and evaluations of the topic of interest (Tharenou, Donohue, and Cooper 2007, 21). Thus, the data collected by observational studies has to be analyzed separately from the data collected by questionnaires. Further consideration of this issue is unnecessary, though, because the data used for this meta-analysis does not contain any observational studies. In fact, all individual studies included in this meta-analysis gather data by surveying participants.

Pertaining to those surveys, especially the questionnaires measuring transactional and transformational leadership, measurement is mostly straightforward. Ever since Bass and Avolio first published their questionnaire to empirically measure their full range of leadership model in 1991, the use of the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) has become more and more common in leadership research (Antonakis, Avolio, and Sivasubramaniam 2003). Today, most survey studies aiming to investigate one or more dimensions of transactional and/or transformational leadership use the MLQ or its shorter version, the MLQ (5X) (Lowe, Kroeck, and Sivasubramaniam 1996). While the MLQ is applicable for both self-rating and other-rating surveys, this meta-analysis focuses on the results of the latter, where followers evaluate their leaders, as no self-rating ones met the inclusion criteria discussed in the previous section. Therefore, all studies applying the MLQ or the MLQ (5X) are based on the same core constructs, which facilitates the coding of the information for meta-analytic purposes. Nonetheless, there are differing survey studies on transactional and transformational leadership and their respective dimensions. For those surveys, questionnaires other than the MLQ are used to compile data. In order to include them in the meta-analysis, their compliance with the measurement constructs underlying the MLQ needs to be evaluated carefully.

With respect to surveys on psychological empowerment, the situation is similar. Most studies investigating these aspects of empowerment rely on the dimensions developed by Thomas and Velthouse (1990) and Spreitzer (1995). Furthermore, Spreitzer (1995) designed a questionnaire consisting of twelve items to empirically measure her four cognitions of psychological empowerment. This questionnaire has been widely used by a variety of researchers since then. Although the use of a rather common questionnaire reduces the number of different questionnaires used to measure the same constructs for psychological empowerment, there are still studies applying

other questionnaires (e.g. Avolio et al. 2004). For those, the measured factors and constructs have to be consistent with the definitions presented in chapter 3 Development of the Research Model. All studies that do not focus on precisely those measurement constructs are excluded from this meta-analysis.

Regarding structural empowerment, the surveys and questionnaires vary significantly. There is no consensus on the use of a specific questionnaire for measuring structural empowerment, resulting in different researchers using different questionnaires to collect data on this particular variable (e.g. Richardson and Vandenberg 2005; Si and Wei 2012). Therefore, data based on a variety of questionnaires has to be examined, provided that the same constructs are measured. However, Laschinger et al. (2001) developed the "Conditions of Work Effectiveness Questionnaire II", which has already been applied by multiple studies on structural empowerment (e.g. Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína 2020), thus slightly reducing the variability of the data collection methods. Nonetheless, it remains larger for the dimensions of structural empowerment than for either psychological empowerment or leadership constructs, effectively rendering the coding of the respective information more complicated.

4.3 Coding and Analyzing Data

In general terms, "coding information" refers to the process of transcribing the results from the original studies as well as the required additional information, e.g. the variables' standard deviations and reliabilities or the sample size (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 43), for meta-analytic use. Depending on the individual papers, this process varies from looking up the values among the studies' results to calculating them oneself (Field and Gillett 2010). As this meta-analysis investigates the impact of transactional and transformational leadership on structural and psychological empowerment, using a correlation coefficient as the metric to be analyzed is a straightforward decision. Given that both leadership and empowerment are continuous variables, the Pearson Correlation Coefficient is the most appropriate metric to describe the relationship between the two variables (Salkind 2008, 89). Hence, the Pearson Correlation Coefficient, *r*, is selected as the metric of interest for this meta-analysis.

Upon this basis, the coding process aims to derive at least one Pearson Correlation Coefficient indicating the relationship between leadership style and empowerment from each individual study. If the studies included in the analysis directly state such a correlation coefficient, for example as part of a zero-order correlation matrix showing the correlations between all study variables (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 500), no further calculations are necessary. If there is no correlation coefficient presented, it needs to be determined whether the former can be estimated based on the information included in the study. In case it is impossible to estimate a correlation coefficient, the study is excluded from further analysis, since it does not provide the required data.

For the purpose of this meta-analysis, 45 papers comply with all inclusion criteria so far. However, five of them do not state a Pearson Correlation Coefficient indicating the relationship between leadership style and empowerment. Hoping to obtain the desired correlation coefficients none-theless, the authors of these papers were contacted via email, asking them if they could possibly provide either the correlation coefficient or the data necessary to calculate it. Unfortunately, this endeavor was unsuccessful. One author's email address was no longer valid, leaving no option to obtain the required zero-order correlation matrix, so that the study was deleted from the sample. The second author was on academic leave and therefore unavailable. However, the paper contains a zero-order correlation matrix indicating the correlations of leadership style with the individual dimensions of structural empowerment. Hence, it is possible to estimate the overall correlation coefficient for leadership and empowerment by applying a confirmatory factors analysis (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 455-456).

The same principle was employed with respect to the three remaining papers, whose authors never replied to the respective emails. The first of these studies also contains a zero-order correlation matrix that allows for the application of a confirmatory factor analysis (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 455-456) to estimate the correlation between transformational leadership and psychological empowerment. For the other two studies whose authors did not reply, there is no zero-order correlation matrix available among the results presented in the paper. Consequently, it is impossible to approximate the required correlation coefficient, so that these studies are eliminated from the sample. Hence, the final sample comprises 42 studies.

Once all correlation coefficients are collected, the issue of errors contained in the individual study values is addressed. Basically, study results may contain a variety of errors (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 43). While some of these cannot be corrected for, others can (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 43). For the latter category, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 45) present a list of potentially correctible errors, for example sampling error, dichotomization, and error of measurement. Each of these impacts the outcome of the original study as well as any meta-analysis including the respective study. Aiming to reduce or eliminate the effect these errors have on the results, meta-analysts apply correction procedures (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 44-72). However, in order to be able to correct for the errors made by the researchers compiling the studies, some additional information needs to be published along with the study's results (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 500) or reliability indicators for the measurement constructs of the variables (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 500) or reliability indicators for the measurement constructs of the variables (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 44-46). In case this additional information is present, the results of a given study can be corrected accordingly before the final meta-analytic calculations are performed (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 93).

Unfortunately, though, not all studies published contain the information required to correct for the aforementioned errors (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 499). This forces meta-analysts to use approximations for the meta-analysis (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 500), for example based on the

distribution of the error values collected from all those studies which do provide information on this particular error (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 158). While these estimates tend to produce reliable results (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 158-198), they remain estimates, which makes this distribution-based correction less precise than the individual correction. Nonetheless, either correction method increases the reliability of the meta-analytic results, since every amount of error that is corrected for reduces the results' deviation from the true population values (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 198). Despite the multitude of options to correct for various errors, this meta-analysis only corrects for sampling error and error of measurement. The third error mentioned before, dichotomization, is not an issue in the present analysis, because both the dependent and the independent variables are continuous (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 45).

After the corrections have been applied, a "bare bones meta-analysis" according to the methods promoted by Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 100-117) is conducted. Basically, this implies the "quantitative cumulation and analysis of effect sizes and other descriptive statistics across studies" (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 479). Hence, aside from calculating the overall population effect size, some further analyses, like moderator or subgroup analysis, might provide additional insight. However, both of these are only conducted in case the data allow for it. For a moderator analysis, this means that the corrected standard deviation of the population correlations needs to show significant variation in the effect sizes across the sample studies (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112). Thus, if the corrected standard deviation is close to zero, a moderator analysis is unlikely to generate meaningful results.

Likewise, a comparative subgroup analysis is only suitable if there is enough information available in the individual papers to sort the coded data into meaningful subgroups allowing for comparative analysis (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 463-467). These subgroups could be based on geographic region, industry sector, or hierarchical level, for example. Still, a subgroup containing just one or two individual effect sizes does not yield reliable results (Rosenthal 1995). In other words, a comparison between industry sectors, like service and manufacturing, might be interesting with respect to the research question, but not offering dependable results if both groups include only one or two individual effect sizes. Therefore, the basic meta-analysis needs to be completed before it can be evaluated whether more in-depth analyses are suitable.

4.4 Outlier Search, Confidence and Credibility Intervals

According to Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 68), most meta-analytic samples contain some "bad data", meaning correlations that are fraud with error. Most of these data are outliers, which can be identified by their extreme deviation from the sample mean (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 68). As such outliers are likely to distort the variance by significantly increasing it, they should be eliminated from the sample (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 68). Thus, it is essential to test the data for outliers before proceeding to analyze it. However, the recommendations of what should be

considered as an outlier differ. Some researchers delete 10% of the values in their sample, namely the top and bottom 5%, prior to analysis, whereas others claim that deleting the top and bottom 2% should be sufficient (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 207). Given that this meta-analysis uses the Hunter-Schmidt method, it was decided to follow their preference regarding outliers as well. Thus, the top and bottom 2% (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 207) of the correlation coefficients are omitted from the calculations.

Regarding the indication of statistical significance of obtained results and the generalization of their validity (Schmidt and Hunter 1999), most researchers use confidence intervals. These are based on the on the desired level of confidence combined with the standard deviation of the sampling error, or – in other words – the square root of the sampling error variance (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 122). However, the standard deviation of the sampling error varies according to the number of studies included in the meta-analysis and the sample sizes of the respective individual studies, even though neither of these parameters have an impact on the actual population correlation and its validity (Schmidt and Hunter 1999). Assuming that researchers are less interested in the variability caused by sampling error than the variability in actual population correlations (Schmidt and Hunter 1999), Hunter and Schmidt (1990) recommend the use of credibility intervals. These are derived from the desired level of credibility in combination with the variability of the population correlation: the standard deviation of the population correlation corrected for sampling error (Schmidt and Hunter 1999). Since this thesis uses the Hunter-Schmidt method of meta-analysis, the respective credibility intervals are provided together with the obtained results in all summary tables. Nonetheless, given the widespread use of confidence intervals, it is preferred to use these to statistically validate the presented results, hoping to make them more comprehensible.

4.5 Conducting the Meta-Analysis

Before beginning the meta-analytic calculations, the respective Pearson Correlation Coefficients and all additional information from the individual papers, for example the sample size and the stated reliability of the variables, are entered into an Excel file. Then, based on the variables' reliability indicated by Cronbach's Alpha (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 123-125), the correlations derived from the individual studies are corrected for error of measurement. For all those papers which do not list Cronbach's Alpha for their variables, an average attenuation factor is computed based on the values provided in the other studies (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 144). This average attenuation factor is then used to correct the remaining correlations for error of measurement. Afterwards, the first step in conducting the so-called "bare bones meta-analysis" (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 100) is calculating the population correlation \bar{r} . This is done by determining the weighted average of the individual study correlations according to Equation 1.

$$\bar{r} = \frac{\sum (N_i r_i)}{\sum N_i}$$

Equation 1 Population Correlation Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 100)

In applying Equation 1, N_i represents the number of participants in study *i*, and r_i indicates the corresponding correlation coefficient (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 100). Since Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 101) are convinced that the weighted average is superior to the simple average, this is what their meta-analytic method features.

Based on the population correlation, Equation 2 computes the variance across studies.

$$\sigma_r^2 = \frac{\sum \left[N_i (r_i - \bar{r})^2 \right]}{\sum N_i}$$

Equation 2 Variance Across Studies Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 100)

As visible in Equation 2, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 100) prefer to use the frequency weighted average squared error instead of the commonly used sample variance, because it facilitates the correction for sampling error. This correction is necessary due to the fact that the variance across the individual studies included in the meta-analysis comprises both the variance of the population correlations (σ_{ρ}^2) underlying the individual studies' correlations and the variance caused by the sampling error (σ_{e}^2) contained in the individual studies (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 102).

Equation 3 represents this assumption in mathematical terms.

$$\sigma_r^2 = \sigma_\rho^2 - \sigma_e^2$$

Equation 3 Relationship of Variance Across Studies, Variance of Population Correlations, and Sampling Error Variance

Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 106)

Consequently, the variance of population correlations can be determined by subtracting the sampling error variance (σ_e^2) from the variance across studies (σ_r^2), as indicated by Equation 4.

$$\sigma_{\rho}^{2} = \sigma_{r}^{2} - \sigma_{e}^{2} = \frac{\sum [N_{i}(r_{i} - \bar{r})^{2}]}{\sum N_{i}} - \frac{(1 - \bar{r}^{2})^{2}}{(\bar{N} - 1)}$$

Equation 4 Variance of Population Correlations Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 106)

Given that Equation 4 is a subtraction, the resulting population variance can become negative (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 109). Though this appears impossible, since a variance cannot be

negative in reality, it remains a mathematically correct result. In order to resolve this dilemma, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 109) recommend to assume a variance of zero in these cases.

Prior to applying Equation 4, the sampling error variance (σ_e^2) has to be determined. It represents the variance among the individual study effect sizes that can be attributed to sampling error (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 102). Hence, the logical next step is to calculate the sampling error variance according to Equation 5.

$$\sigma_e^2 = \frac{\left(1 - \bar{r}^2\right)^2}{\left(\bar{N} - 1\right)}$$

Equation 5 Sampling Error Variance Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 107)

In Equation 5, \overline{N} denotes the average sample size. The corresponding mathematical definition is represented by Equation 6.

$$\overline{N} = \frac{\sum N_i}{K}$$

Equation 6 Average Sample Size Source: Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 107-108)

K, in this case, indicates the number of studies included in the meta-analysis (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 107-108).

Once the values for the variance across studies (σ_r^2) and the sampling error variance (σ_e^2) have been computed, Equation 4 is applied to determine the actual variance in population correlations (σ_ρ^2). In some cases, this yields a variance of population correlations that equals zero, thereby demonstrating that the differences among the individual study results are all caused by sampling error (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 109-110). In other words, seemingly varying study effect sizes can be very similar once sampling error is removed.

Based on the variance of population correlations, the corresponding standard deviation can be calculated. According to definition, the standard deviation is the square root of the variance (Salkind 2008, 42-43), mathematically presented in Equation 7.

$$\sigma_{\rho} = \sqrt{\sigma_{\rho}^2}$$

Equation 7 Standard Deviation Source: own representation based on Salkind (2008, 42-43)

Further consideration of Equation 7 reveals its likeliness to cause challenges in case the variance of population correlations is negative. However, similar to the approach for handling a negative

variance of population correlations resulting from Equation 4, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 109-110) state that instead of calculating the respective standard deviation in this particular case, it can be assumed to equal zero.

Having completed the basic meta-analysis, the final step is to evaluate whether a moderator analysis is applicable. Generally, a moderator variable is responsible for the differences in the correlation between two variables other than the moderator variable (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112). Thus, in order to conduct a moderator analysis, there has to be sufficient variance among population correlations that is not due to sampling error (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112), meaning that there still is significant variance in population correlations after the correction for variance due to sampling error. This indication is further supported by the corrected standard deviation (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112), namely the standard deviation (σ_{ρ}) derived from the variance of population correlations (σ_{ρ}^2). In case indications for the existence of a moderator variable are identified, potential moderators are defined based on the literature and corresponding theoretical assumptions. These are afterwards tested by conducting the aforementioned basic meta-analysis with the respective data subsets (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112). A true moderator variable then manifests itself by both producing different population correlations for each subset and yielding a variance of population correlations lower than the one for the entire data set (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 112).

While the moderator analysis aims to detect variables that cause differences in population correlations, subgroup analysis aims for a more detailed description of the data by comparing different subsets. For example, sorting the data by geographic region allows for comparing the strength of the correlations across the different regions. However, such a subgroup analysis does not assume that geographic region moderates the relationship between leadership style and empowerment. Instead, the purpose is to derive additional insights from a comparison of two or more data subsets.

5 Results

From the 45 papers which had met all inclusion criteria and had therefore entered the coding process, three were eliminated during the coding process, because they neither provided enough information to estimate a correlation coefficient nor did the authors react to the attempt to contact them.



Source: own representation

As indicated by Figure 4, one paper is deleted since the corresponding author's email address is no longer valid, making it impossible to contact him. For the other two papers, no reply was received from the respective authors. Thus, the final sample comprises 42 individual studies, from which 54 Pearson Correlation Coefficients are derived. The majority of the latter, namely 41, describe the relationship between transformational leadership and psychological empowerment (TFL+PE). For the relationship between transformational leadership and structural empowerment (TFL+SE), the data set includes six correlation coefficients, the same number as for the relationship between transactional leadership and psychological empowerment (TAL+SE), the data set includes six correlation coefficient empowerment (TAL+SE), the data set offers only a single correlation coefficient. Summarizing this information, Figure 5 provides a graphical overview of the distribution of the correlation coefficients that are included in the meta-analysis.



Figure 5 Distribution of the Pearson Correlation Coefficients Included in the Meta-Analysis Source: own representation

In order to provide more details regarding the papers contained in this meta-analysis, Table 2 through Table 5 list them according to the leadership-empowerment combination they belong to. Additionally, the corresponding Pearson Correlation Coefficients and sample sizes that have been derived from the respective studies are presented.

study by	Pearson's r	sample size
Si and Wei (2012)	-0.31	465

Table 2Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TAL+SESource: own representation

study by	Pearson's r	sample size
Afsar et al. (2017)	0.23	557
Huang, Liu, and Huang (2021)	0.23	1,278
Jong and Faerman (2021)	0.41	824
Ma and Jiang (2018)	0.39	260
Pieterse et al. (2010)	0.17	230
Tung (2016)	0.35	427

Table 3Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TAL+PESource: own representation

study by	Pearson's r	sample size
Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína (2020)	0.56	240
Richardson and Vandenberg (2005)	0.63	167
Si and Wei (2012)	0.68	465
Simonet et al. (2019)	0.73	171
Sun et al. (2012)	0.55	385
Zheng (2022)	0.31	331

Table 4Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TFL+SE

Source: own representation

study by	Pearson's r	sample size
Afsar, Badir, and Bin Saeed (2014)	0.43	726
Afsar et al. (2017)	0.38	557
Aksoy and Bayazit (2022)	0.49	297
Avolio et al. (2004)	0.15	502
Aydogmus et al. (2018)	0.24	348
Barroso Castro, Villegas Perinan, and Casillas Bueno (2008)	0.73	249
Bendermacher et al. (2019)	-0.05	89
Creon and Schermuly (2022)	0.47	373
DeCelles, Tesluk, and Taxman (2013)	0.42	687
Dust, Resick, and Bardes Mawritz (2014)	0.44	153
Gao, Murphy, and Anderson (2020)	0.77	313
Gillet, Morin, and Blais (2022)	0.49	13,088
Grant (2012)	0.54	329

study by	Pearson's r	sample size
Guerrero et al. (2018)	0.23	178
Gumusluoglu and Ilsev (2009)	0.27	163
Han et al. (2016)	0.40	426
Hepworth and Towler (2004)	0.37	213
Huang, Liu, and Huang (2021)	0.26	1,278
Jauhari, Singh, and Kumar (2017)	0.48	225
Jong and Faerman (2021)	0.45	824
Kim et al. (2022)	0.36	151
Kim and Shin (2017)	0.35	339
Kim and Shin (2019)	0.30	491
Knezović and Drkić (2021)	0.62	371
Ma and Jiang (2018)	0.21	260
Martin and Bush (2006)	0.79	313
Minai et al. (2020)	0.49	335
Mittal (2016)	0.48	420
Nguyen et al. (2022)	0.45	420
Pieterse et al. (2010)	0.33	230
Pradhan, Panda, and Jena (2017)	0.52	310
Schermuly and Meyer (2020)	0.38	280
	0.32	588
Simonet et al. (2019)	0.20	229
	0.49	171
	0.45	386
Sosik, Chun, and Zhu (2014)	0.37	667
Sun et al. (2012)	0.63	385
Tung (2016)	0.44	427
Walsh, Dupré, and Arnold (2014)	0.29	254
Wang and Howell (2012)	0.17	200

Table 5Studies Included in the Meta-Analysis for TFL+PESource: own representation

As can be seen from both Figure 5 and Table 2 through Table 5, the sample offers only a single correlation coefficient describing the relationship between transactional leadership and structural empowerment. Since this is not enough data to conduct a meta-analysis (Rosenthal 1995), the TAL+SE correlation is excluded from all subsequent analyses. Unfortunately, this also implies

that hypothesis H1, which states that transactional leadership positively correlates with structural empowerment, can be neither accepted nor rejected. The same applies to hypothesis H3. It claims that the TAL+PE correlation is stronger than the one of TAL+SE. Furthermore, hypothesis H7, which assumes a stronger correlation for TFL+SE than for TAL+SE, cannot be evaluated either. In both cases, there is insufficient data for a comparison of the respective correlations.

Before any population correlations are estimated for TAL+PE, TFL+SE, and TFL+PE, the sample data is tested for outliers that should be excluded from the meta-analysis in order to prevent the distortion of its results by extreme values (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 68). Following the recommendation of Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 207), the top and bottom 2% of the accumulated correlation coefficients for each leadership – empowerment combination are deemed outliers, causing them to be omitted from further calculations. In numbers, this means that for both TAL+PE and TFL+SE, no correlation coefficient is deleted, as 2% of the six values contained in these sub-samples are too close to zero to justify a classification of any value as outliers. For TFL+PE, the sub-sample comprises 41 correlation coefficients, so that the lowest and the highest one are identified as outliers and therefore eliminated. Hence, the paper by Bendermacher et al. (2019) is removed, as it supplies the only negative – and therefore lowest – correlation coefficient. Likewise, the study by Martin and Bush (2006) is excluded from further analyses, as it provides the highest correlation coefficient within the respective sub-sample.

Aside from the outliers identified so far, the sample contains another two studies that could be considered outliers due to their sample size: Gillet, Morin, and Blais (2022) surveyed 13,088 participants, Huang, Liu, and Huang (2021) 1,278. Both of these samples are significantly larger than the average individual sample size of 654 participants. However, these large samples emphasize the respective studies' power to quantitatively evaluate the leadership - empowerment correlation they investigate (Tharenou, Donohue, and Cooper 2007, 56-57). Thus, omitting these two papers based on their sample size is no reasonable option. Nonetheless, given that this metaanalysis uses formulas based on averages weighted by sample size to estimate the population correlations as well as the variance across studies (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 100), the previously mentioned samples are expected to distort these averages. To resolve this issue, it was decided to allocate a specific weight to each study, which is then used to calculate the weighted averages. More explicitly, one half of each study's weight is determined by its sample size in proportion to the total number of participants within the respective sub-sample. The other half assigns an equal weight to all studies within a sub-sample, as it is calculated by dividing one by the total number of studies included in the sub-sample. This principle is separately applied to all three sub-samples, namely TAL+PE, TFL+SE, and TFL+PE, since the total sample size and the total number of studies vary by sub-samples.

As detailed in Table 6 through Table 8, this principle of weighting the individual studies continues to assign a higher weight to studies with larger samples, though their weight is reduced in comparison to weighting by sample size only. Consequently, studies with particularly high explanatory power (Tharenou, Donohue, and Cooper 2007, 56-57) retain their higher impact on the estimated population correlations, but their distorting effect is reduced.

study by	Pearson's r	sample size	weight
Afsar et al. (2017)	0.23	557	16.12%
Huang, Liu, and Huang (2021)	0.23	1,278	26.20%
Jong and Faerman (2021)	0.41	824	19.85%
Ma and Jiang (2018)	0.39	260	11.97%
Pieterse et al. (2010)	0.17	230	11.55%
Tung (2016)	0.35	427	14.30%
sum			100.00%

Table 6Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TAL+PE sub-sampleSource: own representation

study by	Pearson's r	sample size	weight
Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and José A. Faína (2020)	0.56	240	15.16%
Richardson and Vandenberg (2005)	0.63	167	13.08%
Si and Wei (2012)	0.68	465	21.55%
Simonet et al. (2019)	0.73	171	13.19%
Sun et al. (2012)	0.55	385	19.28%
Zheng (2022)	0.31	331	17.74%
sum			100.00%

Table 7Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TFL+SE sub-sampleSource: own representation

study by	Pearson's r	sample size	weight
Afsar, Badir, and Bin Saeed (2014)	0.43	726	2.59%
Afsar et al. (2017)	0.38	557	2.28%
Aksoy and Bayazit (2022)	0.49	297	1.82%
Avolio et al. (2004)	0.15	502	2.18%
Aydogmus et al. (2018)	0.24	348	1.91%

study by	Pearson's r	sample size	weight
Barroso Castro, Villegas Perinan, and Casillas Bueno (2008)	0.73	249	1.73%
Creon and Schermuly (2022)	0.47	373	1.95%
DeCelles, Tesluk, and Taxman (2013)	0.42	687	2.52%
Dust, Resick, and Bardes Mawritz (2014)	0.44	153	1.56%
Gao, Murphy, and Anderson (2020)	0.77	313	1.84%
Gillet, Morin, and Blais (2022)	0.49	13,088	24.79%
Grant (2012)	0.54	329	1.87%
Guerrero et al. (2018)	0.23	178	1.60%
Gumusluoglu and Ilsev (2009)	0.27	163	1.57%
Han et al. (2016)	0.40	426	2.05%
Hepworth and Towler (2004)	0,37	213	1.66%
Huang, Liu, and Huang (2021)	0.26	1,278	3.58%
Jauhari, Singh, and Kumar (2017)	0.48	225	1.69%
Jong and Faerman (2021)	0.45	824	2.76%
Kim et al. (2022)	0.36	151	1.55%
Kim and Shin (2017)	0.35	339	1.89%
Kim and Shin (2019)	0.30	491	2.16%
Knezović and Drkić (2021)	0.62	371	1.95%
Ma and Jiang (2018)	0.21	260	1.75%
Minai et al. (2020)	0.49	335	1.88%
Mittal (2016)	0.48	420	2.04%
Nguyen et al. (2022)	0.45	420	2.04%
Pieterse et al. (2010)	0.33	230	1.70%
Pradhan, Panda, and Jena (2017)	0.52	310	1.84%
Schermuly and Meyer (2020)	0.38	280	1.78%
	0.32	588	2.34%
Simonet et al. (2019)	0.20	229	1.69%
	0.49	171	1.59%
	0.45	386	1.98%
Sosik, Chun, and Zhu (2014)	0.37	667	2.48%
Sun et al. (2012)	0.63	385	1.97%

study by	Pearson's r	sample size	weight
Tung (2016)	0.44	427	2.05%
Walsh, Dupré, and Arnold (2014)	0.29	254	1.74%
Wang and Howell (2012)	0.17	200	1.64%
sum			100.00%

Table 8Study Weights for the Basic Meta-Analysis, TFL+PE sub-sampleSource: own representation

5.1 Basic Meta-Analytic Results

As mentioned before, the overall data set is analyzed based on four combinations of leadership style and empowerment: TAL+SE, TAL+PE, TFL+SE, and TFL+PE. The first of these combinations, TAL+SE, unfortunately does not yield any meta-analytic results, as there is only one correlation coefficient available from the individual studies. For the remaining three combinations, sufficient correlation coefficients are derived from the studies comprised in the sample to allow for a meta-analysis (Rosenthal 1995). Table 9 lists the respective estimated population correlations, along with the corresponding variances, standard deviations, and credibility as well as confidence intervals.

leadership – empowerment combination	correlation coefficient	variance	standard deviation	95% credibility interval	95% confidence interval
TAL+PE	0.348	0.009	0.095	[0.161, 0.535]	[0.277, 0.419]
TFL+SE	0.630	0.020	0.141	[0.355, 0.906]	[0.560, 0.701]
TFL+PE	0.474	0.039	0.198	[0.086, 0.862]	[0.417, 0.531]

Table 9Results of the Basic Meta-Analysis

Source: own representation

Basically, both leadership styles possess a positive effect on employee empowerment, with transactional leadership (\bar{r}_{TAL+PE} = 0.348, 95% confidence interval [0.277, 0.419]) being less influential than transformational leadership (\bar{r}_{TFL+PE} = 0.474, 95% confidence interval [0.417, 0.531]) with respect to psychological empowerment. The TAL+PE correlation can be classified as moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) and confirms hypothesis H2, which states that transactional leadership positively impacts psychological empowerment. Pertaining to the TFL+PE correlation, it is moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) as well. Hence, hypothesis H5 is accepted, since it assumes a positive correlation. Last but not least, comparing the values for TFL+PE and TAL+PE verifies hypothesis H8, because the estimated population correlation for TFL+PE is stronger than for TAL+PE. When looking at TFL+SE (\bar{r}_{TFL+SE} = 0.630, 95% confidence interval [0.560, 0.701]), the correlation is a strong one (Cohen 2013, 80), besides being the most pronounced of the investigated population correlations. Therefore, hypothesis H4 is accepted, as the results confirm the expectation that transformational leaders have a powerful impact on organizational structures and design (Daft, Murphy, and Willmott 2020, 94). This impact is further shown to be stronger for TFL+SE than for TFL+PE, supporting hypothesis H6, which claims that the TFL+SE correlation's value exceeds the value of the TFL+PE correlation.

5.2 Subgroup Analysis: Geographic Region

Considering the postulation that leadership, especially transformational leadership, is universally effective, independent from national culture (Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin 2005), encourages an analysis of the comparative effect of leadership on empowerment in various geographic regions. The current sample permits such a comparison, since it contains data from countries located on three continents: Europe, America, and Asia. Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin (2005) further maintain that the effectiveness of transformational leadership, despite being omnipresent, varies across cultures, as their focus on task-orientation versus relationship-orientation differs. This, in turn, causes the respective cultures to prefer specific leadership behaviors over others (Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin 2005). For example, collectivist cultures tend to place higher importance on behaviors fostering a harmonious workplace atmosphere, whereas individualistic cultures are more concerned with the individual and his or her performance (Hofstede 1984). Upon this theoretical basis, the data is divided into three sub-samples: Europe (E), North America (Am), and Asia (As), with Europe and North America being more individualistic and Asia more collectivist (Hofstede, n.d.).

However, it is not possible to establish suitable sub-samples large enough to support proper metaanalysis (Rosenthal 1995) for all three regions for TFL+SE and TAL+PE, so that it was decided to combine the European and North American data for these leadership – empowerment combinations. This decision follows the reasoning of Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin (2005), who state that transformational leadership has evolved in the cultural context of Western countries, where a shared focus on individualism emphasizes the importance of considering the individual team member's needs for leadership to be effective. For this reason, the cultural differences between European and North American countries – in the present occasion including only Canada and the USA – are assumed to be negligible for the purpose of the subgroup analysis, as both regions are part of the Western culture and its focus on individualism (Hofstede, n.d.).

A closer look at the TFL+PE correlations in the sample, for which a separation into European ($\bar{r}_{E, TFL+PE} = 0.522$, 95% confidence interval [0.445, 0.598]) and North American data ($\bar{r}_{Am, TFL+PE} = 0.500$ 95% confidence interval [0.460, 0.540]) is feasible, confirms that transformational leadership is similarly effective in fostering empowerment in both regions. Since the

confidence intervals of the TFL+PE correlations for Europe and North America overlap, and the credibility intervals ($\bar{r}_{E, TFL+PE}$ 95% credibility interval [0.198, 0.845], $\bar{r}_{Am, TFL+PE}$ 95% credibility interval [0.231, 0.769]) do so as well, it can be concluded that neither the population variance nor the sampling error variance (Schmidt and Hunter 1999) differ enough to render the combination of European and North American countries for analytic purposes invalid.

Hence, combining the data for Europe and North America for TFL+PE results in $\bar{r}_{E+Am, TFL+PE} = 0.509$ (95% confidence interval [0.464, 0.555]), which is close to the values computed for Europe and North America individually. Moreover, both the credibility ($\bar{r}_{E+Am, TFL+PE}$ 95% credibility interval [0.162, 0.856]) and the confidence intervals for the individual and the combined correlation do overlap, further supporting the conclusion that regional – and thus cultural – differences between Europe and North America are negligible for the purpose of this meta-analysis. Therefore, similar to Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin (2005), who use data from the USA and Taiwan to evaluate the different effects of Western and Asian cultural values on the effectiveness of transformational leadership, this analysis compares Western and Asian sub-samples with respect to the impact leadership has on empowerment.

Nonetheless, detailed interpretations of the effect of cultural aspects on the relationship between leadership and empowerment are not part of this thesis. Instead, they are left for studies focusing explicitly on the impact of culture on leadership, because such studies are designed to account for cultural differences among the various countries belonging to each geographic region (Hofstede, n.d.).

leadership – empowerment combination	Europe + North America	Asia
TAL+PE	$\bar{r}_{E+Am, TAL+PE} = 0.398$ 95% credibility interval [0.166, 0.631] 95% confidence interval [0.326, 0.470]	<i>r̄_{As, TAL+PE}</i> = 0.324 95% credibility interval [0.189, 0.458] 95% confidence interval [0.254, 0.394]
TFL+SE	$\bar{r}_{E+Am, TFL+SE} = 0.705$ 95% credibility interval [0.641, 0.768] 95% confidence interval [0.633, 0.776]	$\bar{r}_{As, TFL+SE} = 0.566$ 95% credibility interval [0.256, 0.876] 95% confidence interval [0.499, 0.633]
TFL+PE	<i>r̄_{E+Am, TFL+PE}</i> = 0.509 95% credibility interval [0.162, 0.856] 95% confidence interval [0.464, 0.555]	$\bar{r}_{As, TFL+PE} = 0.399$ 95% credibility interval [0.138, 0.660] 95% confidence interval [0.319, 0.479]

Table 10Estimated Population Correlations by Geographic RegionSource: own representation

As indicated by Table 10, the correlation coefficients are positive and at least moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) for all three leadership – empowerment combinations in both geographic regions, upholding Spreitzer, Hopkins Perttula, and Xin's (2005) claim that transformational leadership is

effective across cultures, though the effect varies. This variation is also reflected by the results in Table 10, which demonstrate that leaders in Western countries have a higher impact on their employees' empowerment than leaders in Asian countries. A comparison of the TFL+PE correlation for the Western ($\bar{r}_{E+Am, TFL+PE} = 0.509$, 95% confidence interval [0.464, 0.555]) and the Asian subset ($\bar{r}_{As, TFL+PE} = 0.399$, 95% confidence interval [0.319, 0.479]) confirms hypothesis H2 and hypothesis H5, because the correlation coefficients are positive for both subsets. Besides, the TFL+PE correlation for Europe and North America is strong (Cohen 2013, 80), while the Asian one is moderate (Cohen 2013, 80). Thus, the comparison clearly demonstrates that transformational leadership is more powerful in Western countries. Moreover, the relationship for the Western subset is stronger than for the complete data set ($\bar{r}_{TFL+PE} = 0.474$, 95% confidence interval [0.417, 0.531]). For Asia, the opposite is true, since the correlation weakens in comparison to the whole data set.

In line with hypothesis H2, Ma and Jiang (2018) argue that Chinese employees are able to derive psychological empowerment from fulfilling tasks assigned by their leaders without making mistakes. This argument encourages the assumption that transactional leaders have a stronger impact on psychological empowerment in Asian countries than in Western ones. However, when comparing the respective correlation coefficients, the results indicate the exact opposite: The impact of transactional leadership on psychological empowerment is stronger for Western ($\bar{r}_{E+Am, TAL+PE} = 0.398$, 95% confidence interval [0.326, 0.470]) than for Asian countries ($\bar{r}_{As, TAL+PE} = 0.324$, 95% confidence interval [0.254, 0.394]). Nonetheless, Ma and Jiang's (2018) postulation that Chinese employees feel competent and believe to do meaningful work when completing tasks error-free is supported by the moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) correlation for TAL+PE in Asia. Likewise, hypothesis H8 is confirmed for the Asian subset, as the estimated population correlation for TFL+PE is stronger than for TAL+PE.

Looking at the structural dimensions of empowerment, no inferences can be made regarding the impact of transactional leadership, since there is insufficient data available. For transformational leadership, on the other hand, the strong (Cohen 2013, 80) estimated population correlation for Western countries ($\bar{r}_{E+Am, TFL+SE} = 0.705$, 95% confidence interval [0.633, 0.776]) demonstrates the powerful impact this leadership style has on subordinates' structural empowerment. This confirms the positive TFL+SE correlation inferred by hypothesis H4. Furthermore, comparing the TFL+SE and the TFL+PE correlation for the Western subset, hypothesis H6 is also accepted, since transformational leaders are more influential regarding structural than psychological empowerment. In relation to the complete data set ($\bar{r}_{TFL+SE} = 0.630$, 95% confidence interval [0.560, 0.701]), the TFL+SE correlation for Europe and North America is more pronounced, emphasizing the significance of transformational leadership in these regions. Additionally, the standard deviation for the Western data subset ($\sigma_{E+Am, TFL+SE} = 0.033$) is not only notably lower than for the entire data set ($\sigma_{TFL+SE} = 0.141$), but its being close to zero also emphasizes that there is almost no data variation within this particular subset. In other words, nearly all of the

differences between the individual studies' effect sizes for European and North American countries are caused by sampling error (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 114).

Turning to Asian countries, the TFL+SE correlation ($\bar{r}_{As, TFL+SE} = 0.566, 95\%$ confidence interval [0.499, 0.633]) is strong (Cohen 2013, 80) as well, so that hypothesis H4 is supported for this subset. Even though the correlation remains a strong (Cohen 2013, 80) one, it is lower than for the complete data set ($\bar{r}_{TFL+SE} = 0.630$, 95% confidence interval [0.560, 0.701]). Hence, transformational leaders in Asian countries are less influential in establishing empowering organizational structures. However, the TFL+SE correlation is still notably stronger than the TFL+PE one ($\bar{r}_{As, TFL+PE} = 0.399$, 95% confidence interval [0.319, 0.479]), which confirms hypothesis H6. Once again, this emphasizes that transformational leaders are more effective in fostering structural than psychological empowerment. Nevertheless, the impact is less pronounced for Asian than for Western countries, similar to the relationship between leadership and psychological empowerment. Hence, geographic region – along with the corresponding culture – does not only affect the influence transactional and transformational leaders have on their team members' empowerment, but also the strength of this influence.

6 Discussion

Generally, the results of this meta-analysis show a moderate to strong correlation of the investigated leadership styles with empowerment, which supports the assumption that leadership is an integral part of an organization's empowering structure (Spreitzer 1996). However, leader-ship is not simply a component, but also an antecedent of empowerment, especially of structural empowerment (Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína 2020). This is indicated by the strong (Cohen 2013, 80) correlation of transformational leadership and structural empowerment that is uncovered for the entire data set as well as its Western and Asian subsets. Transformational leaders change the work environment to support their subordinate employees' empowerment along with the latter's perception thereof (Thomas and Velthouse 1990).

Furthermore, the results confirm that transformational leaders have a higher impact on psychological empowerment than their transactional colleagues, since they actively foster it (e.g. Boonyarit, Chomphupart, and Arin 2010; Schermuly et al. 2022). Nonetheless, the TFL+PE correlation is moderate (Cohen 2013, 80), whereas the TFL+SE correlation is strong (Cohen 2013, 80), which emphasizes that it is easier for transformational leaders to establish empowering structures than to influence their team members' empowerment cognitions. While structural conditions are objectively observable and equal for all workers in a specific team or department (Tuuli et al. 2012), cognitions represent individual evaluations happening within the employee's mind (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). In other words, the perception of empowerment is derived from the individual team member's assessment of his or her work conditions and environment, independent of the objectivity of this assessment (Spreitzer 1996). Consequently, leaders are more successful in encouraging objectively empowering structures than subjectively empowering perceptions.

6.1 Transactional Leadership and Psychological Empowerment

Based on chapter 5 Results, transactional leadership can only be discussed in relation to psychological empowerment, since there is insufficient data available (Rosenthal 1995) to provide results for the TAL+SE correlation. Consequently, the assumption that contingent reward leadership facilitates structural empowerment by linking performance and reward (Judge and Piccolo 2004), can neither be confirmed nor denied based on the meta-analytic results. By contrast, the results demonstrate that transactional leadership has a moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) correlation with psychological empowerment, supporting the hypothesized encouragement of feelings of competence, which employees gain from the error-free completion of their tasks (Ma and Jiang 2018). Besides, transactional leaders provide a safe, stable work environment with low uncertainty for their staff (Ma and Jiang 2018), thus reducing role ambiguity (Spreitzer 1996). Moreover, the clearly defined expectations that characterize the transactional exchange (Burns 1978, 4) strengthen employees' knowledge of their roles within the organization. Once these roles are understood, team members tend to derive some meaningfulness from their respective jobs and tasks (Spreitzer 1996), which fosters their psychological empowerment.

Though this effect is visible for both the overall data set and the Western and Asian subsets, it is lowest for the Asian subset. The limited influence of transactional leaders on psychological empowerment in Asia emphasizes that the focus on the individual employee and his or her personal needs is less pronounced in Asian organizations (Ma and Jiang 2018). In many Asian countries, for example in China, organizations prefer workers to simply complete their tasks, discouraging them from voicing criticisms, challenging the status quo, suggesting ideas for improvement, and demanding more influence on work-related outcomes or even the freedom to make at least some decisions themselves (Ma and Jiang 2018). As a consequence, leaders are dissuaded from acting overly transformational (Ma and Jiang 2018), and subordinates' perceptions of being empowered are restricted.

Looking at the Western subset, which features the strongest TAL+PE correlation, the idea of psychologically empowering employees with its implications of increased intrinsic motivation (Thomas and Velthouse 1990), less need for supervision, and a wider span of control (Spreitzer 1996) seems to be more prominent. Although transactional leaders are more focused on their subordinates' performance than their individual needs and perceptions (Judge and Piccolo 2004), there is some overlap of contingent reward and individualized consideration (Bass 1997). Both aim to fulfill the workers' needs, with the former using direct, often monetary, rewards and the latter offering recognition and opportunities for personal growth (Bass 1997). Once the transactional leader starts combining the monetary rewards with some praise for a well-done job, though, he or she consciously triggers the competence and meaningfulness dimensions of psychological empowerment (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997).

Aside from contingent reward, passive management-by-exception offers the potential to contribute to psychologically empowering staff. With the leader being absent most of the time and only acting once a problem has manifested itself (Judge and Piccolo 2004), subordinates receive some degree of choice in what task they work on first and how they do so (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). Hence, this situation can promote team members' impression of being self-determined and encourage them to feel empowered. However, the leader retains his or her decisionmaking power (Kanter 1993, 165), which limits the amount of self-determination objectively available to the respective staff. Moreover, employees are still required to execute specific tasks and achieve pre-defined goals (Bass 1990), so that their jobs continue to be governed by routine, which further restricts their workplace autonomy (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). Ultimately, constraints like these explain why the TAL+PE correlation is weaker than the TFL+PE correlation, or, in other words, why transactional leaders are less supportive of empowerment than their transformational colleagues.

6.2 Transformational Leadership and Structural Empowerment

For transformational leaders, actively supporting changes and encouraging subordinates to voice criticisms and suggestions for improvement (Bass 1999) is an integral part of being a leader (Bass 1990). This dedication to adapting and/or improving work conditions is reflected by the strong (Cohen 2013, 80) TFL+SE correlation, which highlights the powerful impact transformational leaders have on structural empowerment. Besides actively delegating decision-making authority (Bowen and Lawler 1992), transformational leaders grant their team members access to the resources they require to complete their tasks successfully (Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína 2020). Moreover, close supervision is not a part of transformational leadership (Afsar et al. 2017), which results in leaders enlarging their span of control (Spreitzer, De Janasz, and Quinn 1999) along with the delegation of decisions and the right to assign resources.

Additionally, transformational leaders ensure that all important information is shared with their teams, knowing that being well-informed facilitates their teams' empowerment. Consequently, both formal and informal communication channels (Lundin et al. 2022) are employed to distribute not only task-related information (Bowen and Lawler 1992), but also insights into the organization's performance, challenges, and strategies for future success (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Examples for formal communications channels are emails, blackboard notices, or announcements during team briefings (Lundin et al. 2022). By contrast, informal communication can happen everywhere, e.g. a chat over lunch or an encounter at the copying machine. However, no matter the number of channels used to convey the information, all of them provide employees with additional knowledge regarding the scope and the importance of their jobs (Bowen and Lawler 1992).

Besides sharing information, transformational leaders aim for trainings to be offered to their employees, wanting them to have a chance to broaden their professional knowledge and acquire new or refine current skills (Bowen and Lawler 1992). To extend these development opportunities for the staff beyond explicit training sessions, leaders provide constructive feedback to their team members (Monje Amor, Xanthopoulou, and Calvo 2021). In other words, they laude what workers do well and explain what could be improved (Laschinger et al. 2001). In addition, learning opportunities are provided (Judge and Piccolo 2004) whenever possible during day-to-day operations. Furthermore, as such learning opportunities require organizational support (Laschinger et al. 2001), transformational leaders ensure that their team members receive all the hints and the advice they request when working on a specific problem (Echebiri, Amundsen, and Engen 2020). Alternatively, leaders actively support their subordinates when the latter attempt to resolve the issue themselves (Laschinger et al. 2001). Taking the respective problem away from an employee, though, is not an option the leader considers. Finally, rewards are the last of the six dimensions of structural empowerment transformational leaders can utilize to exert the influence represented by the strong (Cohen 22013, 80) TFL+SE correlation. While Bowen and Lawler (1992) argue that at least some part of the salary or wage should be linked to the performance of the organization as a whole, Seibert, Silver, and Randolph (2004) favor the opposite, stating that being paid according to the organization's performance holds staff accountable for results they can neither impact nor control. Either way, rewards based on specific performance goals increase the attraction of actively pursuing those goals for employees. Still, a reward does not necessarily have to be monetary; being praised by the leader for an innovative solution to a problem during a team meeting, for example, conveys performance-based appreciation without involving money.

6.3 Transformational Leadership and Psychological Empowerment

Despite the fact that the TFL+PE correlation is weaker than the TFL+SE correlation, transformational leadership still remains more influential than transactional leadership regarding psychological empowerment. This indicates that employees who exceed their individual selfinterest in pursuit of their transformational leader's higher goal (Bass 1997) tend to believe that their jobs are meaningful. Besides, they perceive themselves as competent, self-determined and influential regarding the final outcomes of their work (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). However, psychological empowerment is described as the employees' reaction to their work environment (Laschinger et al. 2004), which renders it more difficult for transformational leaders to exert their influence, as reflected by the moderate (Cohen 2013, 80) TFL+PE correlation compared to the strong (Cohen 2013, 80) TFL+SE correlation. Nonetheless, the stated TFL+PE correlation merits a more detailed discussion of the aforementioned dimensions of psychological empowerment.

To start with, transformational leaders foster their team members perception of competence by actively encouraging them to present suggestions to improve the work conditions, policies and procedures guiding their daily work (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Once employees present some ideas, leaders do not recoil from conflicts or discussions, but instead recognize and even embrace these as a natural part of leading and an opportunity to explain and/or improve their own views and decisions (Burns 1978, 39). By taking the time to negotiate consensus, leaders further demonstrate their subordinates that their contributions are appreciated and valued (Judge and Piccolo 2004). Likewise, offering trainings and learning opportunities – as mentioned in the previous section – is not only essential in establishing structural empowerment (García-Juan, Escrig-Tena, and Roca-Puig 2020), but also strengthens employees' competence along with their perception thereof (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997).

To further facilitate team members' perception of competence (Thomas and Velthouse 1990) and self-determination (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997), leaders benefit from the lack of close supervision inherent in transformational leadership (Afsar et al. 2017). It fosters the delegation of

decision-making authority (Bowen and Lawler 1992), which increases the amount of choice team members have regarding the execution of their tasks (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). Besides demonstrating trust in workers' competence, this also offers them the opportunity to exert additional impact on the final outcomes, all of which increase their intrinsic motivation (Thomas and Velthouse 1990). Consequently, they continue to work hard, but effectively require less supervision (Thomas and Velthouse 1990), justifying the wider span of control favored by transformational leaders (Afsar et al. 2017). Nevertheless, granting staff more autonomy entails their having access to the necessary resources to complete their tasks successfully (Spreitzer 1996). Otherwise, team members are unable to benefit from their empowerment.

Last but not least, team members require information, not only to enable them to succeed in their respective jobs (Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997), but also to attach meaning to the latter. By explaining to their teams how important their results are for their colleagues in another department or the successful performance of the organization as a whole, transformational leaders support the formers' understanding of the importance and meaningfulness (Thomas and Velthouse 1990) of the tasks they accomplish. Nonetheless, leaders have limited impact on how employees process the provided information, because an employee's perception of his or her individual psychological empowerment represents what is going on inside this person's mind (Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011). Consequently, the responses are subjected to variations due to the individual's frame of mind, mood, and circumstances. Furthermore, each individual employee likely reaches a slightly different conclusion, rendering it very difficult for leaders to achieve a common perception of empowerment within their team or department. Ultimately, these difficulties are reflected by the fact that the calculated TFL+PE correlation is merely moderate (Cohen 2013, 80), even though transformational leaders usually address all four dimensions of psychological empowerment.

6.4 Comparing the Presented Results with Those of Schermuly et al. (2022)

As mentioned several times already, Schermuly et al. (2022) published a meta-analysis which investigates the impact of various leadership styles on psychological empowerment. Among these leadership styles are transactional and transformational leadership, so that a more detailed comparison of the respective correlation coefficients derived by Schermuly et al. (2022) with the ones obtained by this thesis seems appropriate. To start with, the process of accumulating data differs. Whereas this thesis uses a total of six keyword combinations, Schermuly et al. (2022) apply only one. Additionally, they do not employ any quality criterion and include unpublished data as well. In total, Schermuly et al.'s (2022) sample comprises 41 papers detailing the TFL+PE correlation, and seven studies representing the TAL+PE correlation. Despite the differing approaches to data collection, the final sample sizes are almost identical, as this thesis includes 41 papers describing the TFL+PE correlation and six indicating the TAL+PE correlation.

Nonetheless, a closer look at the respective studies reveals significant differences. The TAL+PE sub-sample used by Schermuly et al. (2022) contains only one study that is featured in this thesis as well: the one published by Tung (2016). From the remaining six papers, five are from journals with a rank lower than two according to the Academic Journal Guide 2021 (CABS 2021), and the sixth one is an unpublished source (Schermuly et al. 2022). Hence, neither of them meets the inclusion criteria of this meta-analysis. Even more interesting, though, is the fact that the correlation coefficient derived from the paper by Tung (2016) differs. Schermuly et al. (2022) use r = -0.34 to represent the TAL+PE correlation, whereas this thesis obtains a value of r = 0.345 to describe the same correlation². When contacted regarding this discrepancy, Prof. Schermuly explained that he and his team of researchers had concerns about this value as well, but decided to use a negative sign based on the information Tung (2016) provides while describing the results in the text. By contrast, this thesis choses to accept the correlation coefficient listed in the zero-order correlation matrix.

In the end, Schermuly et al. (2022) determine a value of $\bar{r} = 0.08$ (95% confidence interval [-0.16, 0.32]) to indicate the overall TAL+PE correlation, whereas this thesis calculates $\bar{r}_{TAL+PE} = 0.348$ (95% confidence interval [0.277, 0.419]) to represent the same correlation. Still, the 95% confidence intervals of both meta-analyses overlap, which supports the conclusion that both results might not represent the real population correlation. Instead, the latter is probably somewhere in between the values presented by the two meta-analyses, likely within the range where the confidence intervals do overlap. Moreover, given that the papers included in the respective samples vary considerably, it can be assumed that this differing sample composition causes the inconsistent results, particularly since both meta-analyses use the Hunter-Schmidt method.

Comparing results for the TFL+PE correlation provides a completely different picture. 17 of the papers included in Schermuly et al.'s (2022) sub-sample are also used for this analysis. The remaining 24 studies comprised in Schermuly et al.'s (2022) sample are omitted from this thesis due to the quality criterion, because they are either doctoral dissertations – both published and unpublished – or papers published in a journal ranking lower than two in the Academic Journal Guide 2021 (CABS 2021). Interestingly, though, the estimated population correlations are similar: $\bar{r} = 0.40$ (95% confidence interval [0.35, 0.45]) for Schermuly et al. (2022), and $\bar{r}_{TFL+PE} = 0.474$ (95% confidence interval [0.417, 0.531]) for this thesis. However, considering the overlapping 95% confidence intervals, the differing values for the respective correlation coefficients can be attributed to the divergent data used to calculate them.

6.5 Implications for Business Leaders and Managers

Based on the discussion of the meta-analytic results presented so far, it is obvious that business leaders and/or managers are more successful in establishing empowering structures than in

² The respective zero-order correlation matrix presented by Tung (2016) does not contain any negative values.

achieving the perception of being empowered among their subordinate employees. Still, as psychological empowerment is the result of an empowering work environment (Spreitzer 1996), structural empowerment is a solid starting point for leaders and/or managers who strive for increased empowerment in their teams, departments, or companies. Prior to introducing any changes, though, leaders and/or managers should accurately assess the status quo, followed by the development of a detailed plan specifying the particular work conditions to be addressed along with the proposed modifications and the objectives the leader and/or manager intends to realize by implementing the respective alterations. Without sufficient preparation, changes might cause unnecessary uncertainty and upheaval among the staff (Spreitzer 1996), especially if leaders and/ or managers face an unexpected or unforeseen challenge or consequence during the transformation process.

Before considering major structural changes, e.g. the establishment of a more decentralized hierarchy, leaders and/or managers should consider smaller steps that are easier to accomplish in the course of daily business operations. For example, sharing additional information with their team members. Aside from using formal communication channels (Lundin et al. 2022), leaders and/or managers could search for more informal opportunities to talk to their subordinates. A break – no matter whether it is a lunch break, a coffee break, or a cigarette break – is an opportunity to informally share information with the team, both from leader to subordinate employee and from colleague to colleague (Lundin et al. 2022). Moreover, places frequented by employees from all departments and hierarchical levels, like the canteen, the coffee machine, or even the restrooms, may be considered as socializing platforms, offering a variety of information from various sources. Additionally, talking to colleagues from other teams or departments is a chance for the individual to build a social network within the company, thus providing him- or herself with access to informal power, which, in turn, contributes to decision-making power, a dimension of structural empowerment (Kanter 1993, 164).

Next to the effects of information on both structural and psychological empowerment discussed so far, informal communications are occasions for transformational leaders and/or managers to develop trusting relationships with their employees (Bass 1999). These enhance the latter's perception of being empowered, as their leaders and/or managers tend to provide trusted workers with learning opportunities (Judge and Piccolo 2004) as well as organizational support (Laschinger et al. 2001). Furthermore, leaders and/or managers likely feel more comfortable delegating decisions to employees they value and trust, which encourages the latter to feel competent and influential regarding the performance of the team or department (Thomas and Velthouse 1990).

Eventually, leaders and/or managers have a variety of opportunities to foster their teams' empowerment, both structurally and psychologically, while completing their usual daily work. In order to benefit from these chances, though, leaders and/or managers have to perceive them as such

and then act accordingly. Nonetheless, despite the leader's and/or manager's best effort to facilitate empowerment, they are unable to monitor the way their employees ultimately evaluate these efforts (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). However, as long as they follow their transformational intuition and consider their subordinates as individuals (Bass 1990) who deserve respect, they have a solid basis to encourage their team members' empowerment.

6.6 Limitations

The first limitation of this thesis is the fact that the meta-analysis only corrected for sampling error and error of measurement, while other artifacts, e.g. range restriction (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 43), remain uncorrected. Therefore, the population correlations are estimated based on the observed correlations rather than the underlying true effect sizes, since several biases based on imperfect study designs and limited resources (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 156) are ignored. Hence, "the mean correlation of a "bare bones" meta-analysis is a biased estimate of the desired mean correlation" (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 156-157), with a similarly biased variance (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 157). Consequently, the application of further corrections to address additional artifacts would significantly improve the validity of the meta-analytic results, though it was beyond the scope of this thesis.

Another limitation to be considered is publication bias. It refers to the fact that academic journals are said to prefer publishing studies with significant results while tending to reject those with nonsignificant findings (Field and Gillett 2010). Since this meta-analysis was conducted with published studies only, it risks to overestimate the population correlations (Field and Gillett 2010). To quantify publication bias, Field and Gillett (2010) recommend to use Rosenthal's fail-safe N, a method presented in 1979. It calculates the number of studies with effect sizes equaling zero that would have to be included in the meta-analysis in order to reach the desired significance level (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 472). However, this number tends to be very large, easily amounting to several thousand studies, which is why Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 472) consider it highly unlikely that such a number of unpublished studies exists on any topic.

Following the same argumentation, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 507-509) further state that they conducted a variety of meta-analyses with both published and unpublished data without detecting significant differences in their meta-analytic results. Given that many variations in research findings can be attributed to sampling error or other artifacts, a meta-analysis that corrects for these artifacts can be seen as solving the issue of publication bias (Hunter and Schmidt 1990, 507). Consequently, Hunter and Schmidt (1990, 507-509) do not consider publication bias as a serious concern in meta-analyses, which is why this thesis did not apply any methods to quantify it.

6.7 Future Research Opportunities

So far, many researchers have focused their efforts on investigating psychological empowerment (e.g. Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997; Monje Amor, Xanthopulou, and Calvo 2021; Schermuly et al. 2022) and its implications for factors like job satisfaction (e.g. Seibert, Wang, and Courtright 2011), performance (e.g. Seibert, Silver, and Randolph 2004), or strain (e.g. Spreitzer, Kizilos, and Nason 1997). Considerably less research has been published with respect to structural empowerment (Seibert, Silver, and Randolph 2004), even though it can prevent burnout (Monje Amor, Xanthopoulou, and Calvo 2021), besides enhancing an organization's ability to adapt quickly and flexibly to changing conditions in its environment (García-Juan, Escrig-Tena, and Roca-Puig 2020). Moreover, the connection between structural and psychological aspects of empowerment has not received explicit attention yet. Despite being considered complementary (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017), with structural empowerment deemed an antecedent of psychological empowerment hitherto remains answered.

Likewise, though psychological empowerment is described as an employee's reaction to his or her structural environment (Laschinger at al. 2004), the issue whether employees are able to perceive themselves as structurally empowered without their organization's extending any effort towards psychological empowerment has been neglected. Consequently, a more detailed investigation of the relationship between structural and psychological empowerment would provide the information required to answer these questions. In addition, such information could potentially change the dominating perspective regarding empowerment, which causes researchers to focus on either. As a result, psychological empowerment currently receives significantly more attention than structural empowerment. In case of structural and psychological empowerment proving to be dependent on one another, though, a more inclusive focus would have to be adopted, addressing both simultaneously.

Reflecting the currently dominating focus on psychological empowerment, studies examining the relationship between leadership styles, like transformational and transactional leadership, and psychological empowerment (e.g. Boonyarit, Chomphupart, and Arin 2010; Schermuly et al. 2022) are manifold. By contrast, the academic literature offers a less complete picture regarding the impact of the aforementioned leadership styles on structural empowerment (e.g. Sun et al. 2012; Monje Amor, Abeal Vázquez, and Faína 2020). However, as leaders are the ones to bring empowering policies and practices to life (Huertas-Valdivia, Gallego-Burín, and Lloréns-Montes 2019), additional attention on how leadership styles facilitate – or hinder – structural empowerment seems merited. This could comprise further studies focusing on the correlation of transactional leadership and structural empowerment, for example, as this thesis encountered a decisive lack of corresponding publications when accumulating data for the meta-analysis.

Alternatively, a more detailed investigation of the relationship between transformational leadership and the various dimensions of structural empowerment would provide additional insights for researchers as well as business leaders concerning the dimension on which transformational leaders have the most powerful impact.

7 Conclusion

This thesis conducts a meta-analysis assessing the effects of transactional and transformational leadership on structural and psychological empowerment. It confirms the initial assumption that transformational leaders affect employee empowerment, whether by establishing empowering structures to foster structural empowerment or by supporting the individual's empowerment cognitions to facilitate psychological empowerment. The results also reveal that transactional leaders can induce their subordinate employees to feel psychologically empowered. Although this relationship is only moderate (Cohen 2013, 80), transactional leadership is more influential than initially assumed. Furthermore, given that a leader's influence on structural empowerment is significantly stronger than on psychological empowerment, leaders should invest additional effort in creating empowering work conditions, policies and practices. By contrast, supporting the individual perception of being empowered is more difficult, though it should not be ignored completely, since structural and psychological empowerment are considered complementary (Lin, Wu, and Ling 2017). Moreover, the results of this meta-analysis emphasize that structural empowerment is crucial when aiming for empowered employees. Consequently, both business leaders and researchers should devote more attention to the latter in the future than it has received so far.

8 References

note: studies preceded by an asterisk (*) are included in the meta-analysis

*Afsar, Bilal, Yuosre F. Badir, and Bilal Bin Saeed. 2014. "Transformational Leadership and Innovative Work Behavior." *Industrial Management & Data Systems* 114, no. 8: 1270-1300. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-05-2014-0152.

*Afsar, Bilal, Yuosre F. Badir, Bilal Bin Saeed, and Shakir Hafeez. 2017. "Transformational and Transactional Leadership and Employee's Entrepreneurial Behavior in Knowledge-Intensive Industries." *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 28, no. 2: 307-332. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244893.

*Aksoy, Eda, and Mahmut Bayazit. 2022. "Trait Activation in Commitment to Difficult Goals: The Role of Achievement Striving and Situational Cues." *Applied Psychology* 71: 1465-1492. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12368.

Anderson, Marc H., and Peter Y. T. Sun. 2017. "Reviewing Leadership Styles: Overlaps and the Need for a New "Full-Range" Theory." *International Journal of Management Reviews* 19: 76-96. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12082.

Antonakis, John, Bruce J. Avolio, and Nagaraj Sivasubramaniam. 2003. "Context and Leadership: An Examination of the Nine-Factor Full-Range Leadership Theory Using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire." *The Leadership Quarterly* 14: 261-295. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(03)00030-4.

*Avolio, Bruce J., Weichun Zhu, William Koh, and Puja Bhatia. 2004. "Transformational Leadership and Organizational Commitment: Mediating Role of Psychological Empowerment and Moderating Role of Structural Distance." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 25: 951-968. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.283.

*Aydogmus, Ceren, Seun Metin Camgoz, Azize Ergeneli, and Ozge Tayfur Ekmekci. 2018. "Perceptions of Transformational Leadership and Job Satisfaction: The Roles of Personality Traits and Psychological Empowerment." *Journal of Management & Organization* 24, no. 1: 81-107. https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2016.59.

*Barroso Castro, Carmen, Ma M. Villegas Perinan, and Jose C. Casillas Bueno. 2008. "Transformational Leadership and Followers' Attitudes: The Mediating Role of Psychological Empowerment." *The International Journal of Human Resources Management* 19, no. 10: 1842-1863. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190802324601.
Bass, Bernard M. 1985. *Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectations*. New York: Free Press.

Bass, Bernard M. 1990. "From Transactional to Transformational Leadership: Learning to Share the Vision." *Organizational Dynamics* 18, no. 3.

Bass, Bernard M. 1997. "Does the Transactional-Transformational Leadership Paradigm Transcend Organizational and National Boundaries?" *American Psychologist* 52, no. 2: 130-139.

Bass, Bernard M. 1999. "Two Decades of Research and Development in Transformational Leadership." *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 8, no. 1: 9-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410.

*Bendermacher, Guy W. G., Mirjam G. A. oude Egbrink, Hubertina A. P. Wolfhagen, Jimmie Leppink, and Diana H. J. M. Dolmans. 2019. "Reinforcing Pillars for Quality Culture Development: A Path Analytic Model." *Studies in Higher Education* 44, no. 4:643-662. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1393060.

Bennis, Warren G., and Burt Nanus. 1985. *Führungskräfte: Die vier Schlüsselstrategien erfolgreichen Führens*. Translated by Brigitte Stein. Frankfurt am Main: Campus.

Boonyarit, Itsara, Sittichai Chomphupart, and Natthawut Arin. 2010. "Leadership, Empowerment, and Attitude Outcomes." *The Journal of Behavioral Sciences* 5, no. 1: 1-14.

Bowen, David E., and Edward E. Lawler III. 1992. "The Empowerment of Service Workers: What, Why, How, and When." *Sloan Management Review* 33, no. 3 (Spring): 31-39. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A12392267/AONE?u=43wien&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=ab965207. Accessed Nov 15, 2022.

Brickley, James A., Clifford W. Smith, and Jerold L. Zimmerman. 2016. *Managerial Economics and Organizational Architecture*. New York: McGraw-Hill Education.

Burns, James M. 1978. Leadership. New York: Harper & Row.

CABS (Chartered Association of Business Schools). 2021. "Academic Journal Guide 2021." https://charteredabs.org/academic-journal-guide-2021/. Accessed Nov 9, 2022.

Cohen, Jacob. 2013. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. New York: Academic Press, Inc. EBSCOhost eBooks.

Conger, Jay A., and Rabindra N. Kanungo. 1988. "The Empowerment Process: Integrating Theory and Practice." *The Academy of Management Review* 13, no. 3 (July): 471-483.

*Creon, Laura E., and Carsten C. Schermuly. 2022. "A New Path to Training Transfer: Transformational Trainers and Psychologically Empowered Training Participants." *International Journal of Training and Development* 26: 228-244. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12256.

Daft, Richard L., Jonathan Murphy, and Hugh Willmott. 2020. *Organization Theory and Design*. Andover: Cengage Learning.

*DeCelles, Katherine A., Paul E. Tesluk, and Faye S. Taxman. 2013. "A Field Investigation of Multilevel Cynicism Toward Change." *Organization Science* 24, no. 1: 154-171. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1110.0735.

Drury, Horace B. 1915. *Scientific Management: A History and Criticism*. New York: Columbia University. De Gruyter eBooks complete.

*Dust, Scott B., Christian J. Resick, and Mary Bardes Mawritz. 2014. "Transformational Leadership, Psychological Empowerment, and the Moderating Role of Mechanistic-Organic Contexts." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 35: 413-433. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1904.

Eagly, Alice H., and Blair T. Johnson. 1990. "Gender and Leadership Style: A Meta-Analysis." *Psychological Bulletin* 108, no. 2: 233-526.

Echebiri, Chukwuemeka, Stein Amundsen, and Marit Engen. 2020. "Linking Structural Empowerment to Employee-Driven Innovation: The Mediating Role of Psychological Empowerment." *administrative sciences* 10: 42-61. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci10030042.

Field, Andy P., and Raphael Gillett. 2010. "How to Do a Meta-Analysis." *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology* 63: 665-694. https://doi.orf/10.1348/00071101X502733.

*Gao, Ronnie (Chuang Rang), William H. Murphy, and Rolph E. Anderson. 2020. "Transformational Leadership Effects on Salespeople's Attitudes, Striving, and Performance." *Journal of Business Research* 110: 237-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.busres.2020.01.023.

García-Juan, Beatriz, Ana B. Escrig-Tena, and Vincente Roca-Puig. 2020. "Structural Empowerment and Organizational Performance: The Mediating Role of Employees' Well-Being in Spanish Local Governments." *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*:1-33. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2020.1859581.

García-Sierra, Rosa, and Jordi Fernández-Castro. 2018. "Relationships between Leadership, Structural Empowerment, and Engagement in Nurses." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 74: 2809-2819. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13085.

*Gillet, Nicholas, Alexandre J. S. Morin, and Ann-Renée Blais. 2022. "A Multilevel Person-Centered Perspective on the Role of Job Demands and Resources for Employees' Job Engagement and Burnout Profiles." *Group & Organization Management*, first published online: May 25, 2022: 1-52. https://doi.org/10.1177/10596011221100893.

*Grant, Adam M. 2012. "Leading with Meaning: Beneficiary Contract, Prosocial Impact, and the Performance Effects of Transformational Leadership." *The Academy of Management Journal* 55, no. 2 (April): 458-476. http://dx.doi.org/10.5465/amj.2010.0588.

*Guerrero, Sylvie, Denis Chênevert, Christian Vandenberghe, Michael Tremblay, and Ahmed K. Ben Ayed. 2018. "Employees' Psychological Empowerment and Performance: How Customer Feedback Substitutes for Leadership." *Journal of Services Marketing* 32, no. 7: 868-879. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-09-2017-0325.

*Gumusluoglu, Lale, and Arzu Ilsev. 2009. "Transformational Leadership, Creativity, and Organizational Innovation." *Journal of Business Research* 62: 461-473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2007.07.032.

Hackman, J. Richard. 1980. "Work Redesign and Motivation." *Professional Psychology* 11, no. 3 (June): 445-455.

*Han, Seung-hyun, Gaeun Seo, Jessica Li, and Seung W. Yoon. 2016. "The Mediating Effect of Organizational Commitment and Employee Empowerment: How Transformational Leadership Impacts Employee Knowledge Sharing Intention." *Human Resource Development International* 19, no. 2: 98-115. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2015.1099357.

*Hepworth, Willie, and Annette Towler. 2004. "The Effects of Individual Differences and Charismatic Leadership on Workplace Aggression." *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 9, no. 2: 176-185. https://doi.org./10.1037/1076-8998.9.2.176.

Hofstede, Geert. 1984. "Cultural Dimensions in Managing and Planning." *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* (January): 81-99.

Hofstede, Geert. n.d. "Country Comparison Graphs". https://geerthofstede.com/country-comparison-graphs/. Accessed June 2, 2023.

*Huang, Ya-Ting, Hao Liu, and Liang Huang. 2021. "How Transformational and Contingent Reward Leaderships Influence University Faculty's Organizational Commitment: The Mediating Effect of Psychological Empowerment." *Studies in Higher Education* 46, no. 11: 2473-2490. https://doi.org/10,1080/ Huertas-Valdivia, Irene, Araceli R. Gallego-Burín, and F. Javier Lloréns-Montes. 2019. "Effects of Different Leadership Styles on Hospitality Workers." *Tourism Management* 71: 402-420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.10.027.

Huertas-Valdivia, Irene, F. Javier Llorens-Montes, and Antonia Riuz-Moreno. 2018. "Achieving Engagement among Hospitality Employees – A Serial Mediation Model." *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management* 30, no. 1: 217-241. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-09-2016-0538.

Hunter, John E., and Frank L. Schmidt. 1990. *Methods of Meta-Analysis*. Newbury Park: Sage Publications, Inc.

*Jauhari, Hemang, Shailendra Singh, and Manish Kumar. 2017. "How Does Transformational Leadership Influence Proactive Customer Service Behavior of Frontline Service Employees? Examining the Mediating Roles of Psychological Empowerment and Affective Commitment." *Journal of Enterprise Information Management* 30, no. 1: 30-48. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-01-2016-0003.

*Jong, Jaehee, and Sue Faerman. 2021. "The Role of Goal Specificity in the Relationship Between Leadership and Empowerment." *Public Personnel Management* 50, no. 4: 559-583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026020982330.

Judge, Timothy A., and Ronald F. Piccolo. 2004. "Transformational and Transactional Leadership: A Meta-Analytic Test of Their Relative Validity." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 89, no. 5: 755-768. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755.

Kanter, Rosabeth M. 1979. "Power Failure in Management Circuits." In *Leadership Perspectives*, edited by Alan Hooper, 281-290. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Kanter, Rosabeth M. 1993. Men and Women of the Corporation. New York: BasicBooks.

Keir, Malcolm. 1918. "Scientific Management Simplified." *The Scientific Monthly* 7, no. 6 (Dec): 525-529. https://www.jstor.org/stable/7089.

*Kim, Byung-Jik, Soojin Oh, Tae-Yeol Kim, Sungjin Park, and Tae-Hyun Kim. 2022. "Dual-Focused Transformational Leadership and Individual Creativity: Moderating Effects of Team Scout Activity and Individual Perspective-Taking." *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 33, no. 15: 3085-3112. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1900321.

*Kim, Soyeon, and Mannsoo Shin. 2017. "The Effectiveness of Transformational Leadership on Empowerment – The Roles of Gender and Gender Dyads." *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management* 24, no. 2: 271-287. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCSM-03-2016-0075.

*Kim, Soyeon, and Mannsoo Shin. 2019. "Transformational Leadership Behaviors, the Empowering Process, and Organizational Commitment: Investigating the Moderating Role of Organizational Structure in Korea." *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 30, no. 2: 251-275. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1278253.

*Knezović, Emil, and Amina Drkić. 2020. "Innovative Work Behavior in SMEs: The Role of Transformational Leadership." *Employee Relations: The International Journal* 43, no. 2: 398-415. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-03-2020-0124.

Kotter, John P. 1990. "What Leaders Really Do." In *Leadership Perspectives*, edited by Alan Hooper, 7-15. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Laschinger, Heather K. S., Joan Finegan, Judith Shamian, and Piotr Wilk. 2001. "Impact of Structural and Psychological Empowerment on Job Strain in Nursing Work Settings." *The Journal of Nursing Administration* 31, no. 5 (May): 260-272.

Laschinger, Heather K. S., Joan E. Finegan, Judith Shamian, and Piotr Wilk. 2004. "A Longitudinal Analysis of the Impact of Workplace Empowerment on Work Satisfaction." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 25, no. 4 (June): 527-545. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.256.

Lee, Allan, Alison Legood, David Hughes, Amy W. Tian, Alexander Newman, and Caroline Knight. 2020. "Leadership, Creativity and Innovation: A Meta-Analytic Review." *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 29, no. 1: 1-35. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2019.1661837.

Lee, Allan, Sara Willis, and Amy W. Tian. 2018. "Empowering Leadership: A Meta-Analytic Examination of Incremental Contribution, Mediation, and Moderation." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 39: 306-325.https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2220.

Levy Paluck, Elizabeth, and Robert B. Cialdini. 2014. "Field Research Methods." In *Handbook of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology*, edited by Harry T. Reis and Charles M. Judd, 27-48. New York: Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press eBooks.

Lin, Meizhen, Xiaoyi Wu, and Qian Ling. 2017. "Assessing the Effectiveness of Empowerment on Service Quality: A Multi-Level Study of Chinese Tourism Firms." *Tourism Management* 61: 411-425. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2017.03.001.

Lowe, Kevin B., K. Galen Kroeck, and Nagaraj Sivasubramaniam. 1996. "Effectiveness Correlates of Transformational and Transactional Leadership: A Meta-Analytic Review of the MLQ Literature." *The Leadership Quarterly* 7, no. 3: 385-425. Lundin, Karin, Marit Silén, Annika Strömberg, Maria Engström, and Bernice Skytt. 2022. "Staff Structural Empowerment – Observations of First-Line Managers and Interviews with Managers and Staff." *Journal of Nursing Management* 30: 403-412. https://doi.org./10.1111/jonm.13513.

*Ma, Xifang, and Wan Jiang. 2018. "Transformational Leadership, Transactional Leadership, and Employee Creativity in Entrepreneurial Firms." *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 54, no. 3: 302-324. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318764346.

Martin, Robin, Yves Guillaume, Geoff Thomas, Allan Lee, and Olga Epitropaki. 2016. "Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) and Performance: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Personnel Psychology* 69: 67-121. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12100.

*Martin, Craig A., and Alan J. Bush. 2006. "Psychological Climate, Empowerment, Leadership Style, and Customer-Oriented Selling: An Analysis of the Sales Manager–Salesperson Dyad." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 34, no. 3: 419-438. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070306286205.

*Minai, Mohammad H., Hemang Jauhari, Manish Kumar, and Shailendra Singh. 2020. "Unpacking Transformational Leadership: Dimensional Analysis with Psychological Empowerment." *Personnel Review* 49, no. 7: 1419-1434. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-10-2019-0580.

*Mittal, Swati. 2016. "Effects of Transformational Leadership on Turnover Intentions in IT SMEs." *International Journal of Manpower* 37, no. 8: 1322-1346. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-10-2014-0202.

*Monje Amor, Ariadna, José P. Abeal Vázquez, and José A. Faína. 2020. "Transformational Leadership and Work Engagement: Exploring the Mediating Role of Structural Empowerment." *European Management Journal* 38; 169-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2019.06.007.

Monje Amor, Ariadna, Despoina Xanthopoulou, and Nuria Calvo. 2021. "Structural Empowerment, Psychological Empowerment, and Work Engagement: A Cross-Country Study." *European Management Journal* 39:779-789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.01.005.

*Nguyen, Thi P. L., Thu T. Nguyen, Cong D. Duong, and Xuan H. Doan. 2022. "The Effects of Transformational Leadership on Employee Creativity in Vietnam Telecommunications Enterprises." *Management Decision* 60, no. 3: 837-857. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-07-2020-0882.

Pfeiffer, Thomas. 2021. "Readings Kapitel I." University of Vienna, Course Anreizsysteme, Summer Semester 2021.

*Pieterse, Anne N. V., Daan Van Knippenberg, Michaéla Schippers, and Daan Stam. 2010. "Transformational and Transactional Leadership and Innovative Behavior: The Moderating Role of Psychological Empowerment." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 31, no. 4 (May): 609-623. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41683931.

*Pradhan, Rabindra K., Madhusmita Panda, and Lalatendu K. Jena. 2017. "Transformational Leadership and Psychological Empowerment." *Journal of Enterprise Information Management* 30, no. 1: 82-95. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-01-2016-0026.

Reitzig, Markus. 2022. *Get Better at Flatter – A Guide to Shaping and Leading Organizations with Less Hierarchy*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. Springer eBooks.

*Richardson, Hettie A., and Robert J. Vandenberg. 2005. "Integrating Managerial Perceptions and Transformational Leadership into a Work-Unit Level Model of Employee Involvement." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 26: 561-589. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.329.

Robbins, Stephen P., and Timothy A. Judge. 2007. *Organizational Behavior*. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice Hall.

Rosenthal, Robert. 1995. "Writing Meta-Analytic Reviews." *Psychological Bulletin* 118, no. 2: 183-192.

Rosing, Kathrin, Michael Frese, and Andreas Bausch. 2011. "Explaining the Heterogeneity of the Leadership-Innovation Relationship: Ambidextrous Leadership." *The Leadership Quarterly* 22: 956-974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.07.014.

Salkind, Neil J. 2008. *Statistics for People Who (Think They) Hate Statistics*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.

Schermuly, Carsten C., Laura Creon, Philipp Gerlach, Carolin Graßmann, and Jan Koch. 2022. "Leadership Styles and Psychological Empowerment: A Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Leadership* & *Organizational Studies* 29, no. 1: 73-95. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051821106751.

*Schermuly, Carsten C., and Bertolt Meyer. 2020. "Transformational Leadership, Psychological Empowerment, and Flow at Work." *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 29, no. 5: 740-752. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2020.1749050.

Schmidt, Frank L., and John E. Hunter. 1999. "Comparison of Three Meta-Analysis Methods Revisited: An Analysis of Johnson, Mullen, and Salas (1995)." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 84, no. 1: 144-148.

Seibert, Scott E., Seth R. Silver, and W. Alan Randolph. 2004. "Taking Empowerment to the Next Level: A Multiple-Level Model of Empowerment, Performance, and Satisfaction." *The Academy of Management Journal* 47, no. 3 (June): 332-349. https://www.jstor.org/stable/20159585.

Seibert, Scott E., Gang Wang, and Stephen H. Courtright. 2011. "Antecedents and Consequences of Psychological and Team Empowerment in Organizations: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 96, no. 5: 981-1003. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022676.

Shamir, Boas, Robert J. House, and Michael B. Arthur. 1993. "The Motivational Effects of Charismatic Leadership: A Self-Concept Based Theory." *Organization Science* 4, no. 4 (Nov): 577-594. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2635081.

*Si, Steven, and Feng Wei. 2012. "Transformational and Transactional Leaderships, Empowerment Climate, and Innovation Performance: A Multilevel Analysis in the Chinese Context." *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 21, no. 2: 299-320. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2011.570445.

*Simonet, Daniel V., Katherine E. Miller, Sylvia Luu, Kevin L. Askew, Anupama Narayan, Sydnie Cunningham, Camila Pena, Amen Attar, Rose Fonseca, and Holly M. Kobezak. 2019. "Who is Empowered? Relative Importance of Dispositional and Situational Sources to Psychological Empowerment." *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 28, no. 4: 536-554. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2019.1624532.

Smith, Eliot R. 2014. "Research Design." In *Handbook of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology*, edited by Harry T. Reis and Charles M. Judd, 27-48. New York: Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press eBooks.

*Sosik John J., Jae U. Chun, and Weichun Zhu. 2014. "Hang on to Your Ego: The Moderating Role of Leader Narcissism on Relationships Between Leader Charisma and Follower Psychological Empowerment and Moral Identity." *Journal of Business Ethics* 120: 65-80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1651-0.

Spreitzer, Gretchen M. 1995. "Psychological Empowerment in the Workplace: Dimensions, Measurement, and Validation." *The Academy of Management Journal* 38, no. 5 (Oct): 1442-1465.

Spreitzer, Gretchen M. 1996. "Social Structural Characteristics of Psychological Empowerment." *The Academy of Management Journal* 39, no. 2 (April): 483-504. https://www.jstor.org/stable/256789. Spreitzer, Gretchen M., Suzanne C. De Janasz, and Robert E. Quinn. 1999. "Empowered to Lead: The Role of Psychological Empowerment in Leadership." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 20, no. 4 (July): 511-526.

Spreitzer, Gretchen M., Kimberly Hopkins Perttula, and Katherine Xin. 2005. "Traditionality Matters: An Examination of the Effectiveness of Transformational Leadership in the United States and Taiwan." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 26: 205-227. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.315.

Spreitzer, Gretchen M., Mark A. Kizilos, and Stephen W. Nason. 1997. "A Dimensional Analysis of the Relationship between Psychological Empowerment and Effectiveness, Satisfaction, and Strain." *Journal of Management* 23, no. 5: 679-704.

*Sun, Li-Yun, Zhen Zhang, Jin Qi, and Zhen X. Chen. 2012. "Empowerment and Creativity: A Cross-Level Investigation." *The Leadership Quarterly* 23: 55-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.11.005.

Tharenou, Phyllis, Ross Donohue, and Brian Cooper. 2007. *Management Research Methods*. Port Melbourne: Cambridge University Press. Cambridge EBA ebooks Complete Collection.

Thomas, Kenneth. W., and Betty A. Velthouse. 1990. "Cognitive Elements of Empowerment: An "Interpretive" Model of Intrinsic Task Motivation." *The Academy of Management Review* 15, no. 4 (Oct): 666-681. https://doi.org/10.2307/258687.

*Tung, Feng-Cheng. 2016. "Does Transformational, Ambidextrous, Transactional Leadership Promote Employee Creativity? Mediating Effects of Empowerment and Promotion Focus." *International Journal of Manpower* 37, no. 8: 1250-1263. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-09-2014-0177.

Tuuli, Martin M., Steve Rowlinson, Richard Fellows, and Anita M. M. Liu. 2012. "Empowering the Project Team: Impact of Leadership Style and Team Context." *Team Performance Management* 18, no. 3/4: 149-175. https://doi.org/10.1108/13527591211241006.

Wall, Toby D., John L. Cordery, and Chris W. Clegg. 2002. "Empowerment, Performance, and Operational Uncertainty: A Theoretical Integration." *Applied Psychology: An International Review* 51, no. 1: 146-169.

*Walsh, Megan, Kathryne Dupré, and Kara A. Arnold. 2014. "Processes Through Which Transformational Leaders Affect Employee Psychological Health." *Zeitschrift für Personalforschung* 28, no. 1-2: 162-172. https://doi.org/10.1688/ZfP-2014-01-Walsh. *Wang, Xiao-Hua (Frank), and Jane M. Howell. 2012. "A Multilevel Study of Transformational Leadership, Identification, and Follower Outcomes." *The Leadership Quarterly* 23: 775-790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.02.001.

Weber, Max. 1980. "Die Typen der Herrschaft." In *Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft*, edited by Johannes Winckelmann, 122-158. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr.

Wilkinson, Adrian. 1998. "Empowerment: Theory and Practice." *Personnel Review* 27, no. 1: 40-56. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483489810368549.

Young, Henry R., David R. Glerum, Dana L. Joseph, and Mallory A. McCord. 2021. "A Meta-Analysis of Transactional Leadership and Follower Performance: Double-Edged Effects of LMX and Empowerment." *Journal of Management* 47, no. 5 (May): 1255-1280. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320908646.

Yukl, Gary. 1989. "Managerial Leadership: A Review of Theory and Research." *Journal of Management* 15, no. 2 (June): 251-289.

Zaleznik, Abraham. 1981. "Managers and Leaders: Are They Different?" *The Journal of Nursing Administration* 11, no. 7 (July): 25-31. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26815584.

Zhang, Yucheng, Yuyan Zheng, Long Zhang, Shan Xu, Xin Liu, and Wansi Chen. 2021 "A Meta-Analytic Review of the Consequences of Servant Leadership: The Moderating Roles of Cultural Factors." *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* 38: 371-400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-018-9639-z.

*Zheng, Xiaoyong. 2022. "Salesmanship: The Influence of Social Networks on Sales-Service Ambidexterity." *Management Decision* 60, no. 11: 3086-3126. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-01-2022-0038.

9 Abstract

This thesis conducts a meta-analysis to test the influence of transactional and transformational leadership on employee empowerment. As empowerment comprises structural and psychological dimensions, both of these are analyzed. Still, this thesis' focus is on structural empowerment and how leaders impact the work environment with its practices and policies in order to enhance - or hinder - their team members' empowerment. Based on Pearson Correlation Coefficients indicating the correlation of transactional and/or transformational leadership and structural and/or psychological empowerment derived from 42 individual studies, the Hunter-Schmidt method is applied to estimate the population correlations for each of the respective leadership - empowerment combinations. The results demonstrate that transformational leaders have a powerful impact on establishing empowering structural conditions, whereas their impact on the perception of being empowered is less pronounced. Hence, it is easier for business leaders and/or managers to empower their employees structurally than psychologically. For transactional leadership, the data allows no inferences regarding structural empowerment, but it indicates a moderate effect on team members' psychological empowerment. Thus, there are some situations in which employees consider themselves empowered despite their transactional leaders' lack of encouragement for this belief. Ultimately, the results show that the relationship between transactional and transformational leadership and structural empowerment deserves more scientific attention than it has received so far.

10 Zusammenfassung

Diese Arbeit präsentiert eine Meta-Analyse, die den Einfluss von transaktionsorientierter und transformationsorientierter Führung auf die Bevollmächtigung der Mitarbeiter*innen untersucht. Da diese Bevollmächtigung aus zwei Komponenten, einer strukturellen und einer psychologischen, besteht, werden beide in die Analyse einbezogen. Dennoch liegt der Fokus dieser Arbeit auf den strukturellen Aspekten, darauf, wie Führungskräfte das Arbeitsumfeld sowie die dazugehörigen Richtlinien und Praktiken beeinflussen, die letztlich die Bevollmächtigung ihrer Mitarbeiter*innen fördern oder hemmen. Die Grundlage für die empirische Bestimmung der Korrelationskoeffizienten für die jeweilige Kombination aus Führungsstil und Bevollmächtigung nach der von Hunter und Schmidt propagierten Methode bilden die entsprechenden Pearson-Korrelationskoeffizienten aus 42 einzelnen Studien, die ihrerseits den Zusammenhang zwischen transaktionsorientierter und/oder transformationsorientierter Führung und struktureller und/oder psychologischer Bevollmächtigung repräsentieren. Die Ergebnisse der Analyse zeigen, dass transformationsorientierte Führung einen starken Einfluss auf die Etablierung von Strukturen hat, die die Bevollmächtigung der Mitarbeiter*innen fördern, wohingegen die Auswirkung dieses Führungsstils auf die individuelle Wahrnehmung der persönlichen Bevollmächtigung weniger ausgeprägt ist. Somit ist es für Führungskräfte einfacher, ihren Mitarbeiter*innen mehr strukturelle Bevollmächtigung zu bieten, als die individuelle Überzeugung zu stärken, bevollmächtigt zu sein. In Bezug auf transaktionsorientierte Führung ist die Datengrundlage dieser Arbeit zu dünn, um Rückschlüsse hinsichtlich des Zusammenhangs mit struktureller Bevollmächtigung zu erlauben. Dennoch lässt sich ein moderater Einfluss dieses Führungsstils auf die wahrgenommene Bevollmächtigung der Mitarbeiter*innen feststellen. Folglich existieren Situationen, in denen Mitarbeiter*innen sich als bevollmächtigt empfinden, obwohl die entsprechende Führungskraft keine Initiative zeigt, um diese Überzeugung zu ermutigen. Basierend auf den Ergebnissen dieser Arbeit wird somit deutlich, dass der Zusammenhang zwischen transaktionsorientierter und transformationsorientierter Führung und struktureller Bevollmächtigung mehr Aufmerksamkeit verdient, als ihm bisher zuteilwurde.